Wiltshire Council

~—"->~. Where everybody matters

AGENDA

Meeting: Eastern Area Planning Committee

Place: Council Chamber - Council Offices, Browfort, Devizes
Date: Thursday 25 August 2011

Time: 6.00 pm

Please direct any enquiries on this Agenda to Chris Marsh, of Democratic Services,
County Hall, Bythesea Road, Trowbridge, direct line (01225) 713058 or email
chris.marsh@wiltshire.gov.uk

Press enquiries to Communications on direct lines (01225) 713114/713115.

This Agenda and all the documents referred to within it are available on the Council’s
website at www.wiltshire.gov.uk

Membership:
Clir Jane Burton Clir Charles Howard (Chairman)
Clir Peggy Dow Clir Chris Humphries
CliIr Nick Fogg Cllr Laura Mayes
Clir Richard Gamble Clir Jemima Milton
(Vice-Chairman) Clir Christopher Williams
Substitutes:
CliIr Nigel Carter Clir Francis Morland
Clir Peter Colmer CliIr Christopher Newbury
Clir George Jeans Clir Jeffrey Ody
Clir Simon Killane Clir Jonathon Seed

Clir Jerry Kunkler




AGENDA

Part |

Items to be considered when the meeting is open to the public

Apologies for Absence

Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 1 - 8)

To approve and sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 4
August 2011 (copy herewith).

Declarations of Interest

To receive any declarations of personal or prejudicial interests or dispensations
granted by the Standards Committee.

Chairman's Announcements

Public Participation

Members of the public who wish to speak either in favour or against an
application on this agenda are asked to register in person no later than 5:50pm
on the day of the meeting.

The chairman will allow up to 3 speakers in favour and up to 3 speakers against
an application. Each speaker will be given up to 3 minutes and invited to speak
immediately prior to the item being considered. The rules on public participation
in respect of planning applications are detailed in the Council’s Planning Code
of Good Practice.

To receive any questions from members of the Council or members of the
public received in accordance with the constitution which excludes, in particular,
questions on non-determined planning applications. Those wishing to ask
questions are required to give notice of any such questions in writing to the
officer named above (acting on behalf of the Director of Resources) no later
than 5pm on (4 clear working days, e.g. Wednesday of week before for a
Wednesday meeting). Please contact the officer named on the first page of the
agenda for further advice. Questions may be asked without notice if the
Chairman decides that the matter is urgent.

Details of any questions received will be circulated to Committee members prior
to the meeting and made available at the meeting and on the Council’s website.



Wiltshire Council Rights of Way Modification Order no. 9 2011 (Pages 9 -
96)

To consider the attached report of the Corporate Director, Neighbourhood and
Planning, regarding the above Order to add public rights of way on foot to the
Definitive Map and Statement at Chittoe Plantation, Bromham.

Urgent items

Any other items of business which, in the opinion of the Chairman, should be
taken as a matter of urgency

Part Il

Items during whose consideration it is recommended that the public should be
excluded because of the likelihood that exempt information would be disclosed

None



This page is intentionally left blank



Wiltsniiie Coundcil

~—-_ Where everybody matters

EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE

DRAFT MINUTES OF THE EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING
HELD ON 4 AUGUST 2011 AT COUNCIL CHAMBER - COUNCIL OFFICES,
BROWFORT, DEVIZES.

Present:

Clir Jane Burton, Clir Peggy Dow, CliIr Nick Fogg, ClIr Richard Gamble (Vice Chairman),
Clir Charles Howard (Chairman), ClIr Laura Mayes, Clir Jemima Milton and

Clir Christopher Williams

Also Present:

CliIr Liz Bryant and ClIr Brigadier Robert Hall

163. Apologies for Absence

Apologies were received from ClIr Chris Humphries.

164. Minutes of the Previous Meeting

The minutes of the meeting held 14 July 2011 were presented and it was,
Resolved:
To approve and sign the minutes as a correct record.

165. Declarations of Interest

There were no interests declared.

166. Chairman's Announcements

There were no Chairman’s announcements.

167. Public Participation

The Committee noted the rules on public participation and the manner in which
the meeting would proceed.

Page 1



168. Planning Applications

169. E/11/0293/FUL

Land adjacent to no. 7 & no. 9 Bayntun Close, Bromham, Chippenham,
Wiltshire SN15 2JG — Erection of detached dwelling and associated driveway
(resubmission of E/10/1172/FUL).

The following people spoke in objection to the proposal:
Sandra Lovell, as agent on behalf of Mr J Abbott, an immediate neighbour
The following people spoke in support of the proposal:

Mr Elliott, Chairman of the former owner of the site
Jean Collens, representing Bromham Parish Council

The Committee received a presentation from the Development Control Team
Leader (East) which set out the main issues in respect of the application. He
introduced the report, which recommended refusal.

Members of the Committee then had the opportunity to ask technical questions,
after which the Committee received statements from members of the public
detailed above, expressing their views regarding this planning application.

After discussion regarding:

a) Principle of development

b) Impact on the streetscene

c) Impact of residential amenity

d) Impact on flooding

e) Design matters including the height and massing of the proposal

And upon hearing the views of the local Members, Clir Liz Bryant, it was,
Resolved:

That planning permission is granted for the following reason:

The proposed dwelling would be in scale and harmony with existing
bungalows in Bayntun Close and it would cause no harm to the visual
amenities of the area or the residential amenities of neighbouring
occupiers. As such, it is considered that the proposals would comply
with policies HC22 and PD1 of the Kennet Local Plan 2011.

And subject to the following conditions:

Page 2



The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the
expiration of three years from the date of this permission.

REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

No development shall commence on site until details and samples of
the materials to be used for the external walls and roofs have been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details.

REASON: In the interests of visual amenity and the character and
appearance of the area.

No development shall commence on site until a surface water
drainage strategy and flood risk assessment have been submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
submitted details shall include full infiltration testing results for any
soakaways being proposed. Development shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved details prior to first occupation of the
dwelling.

REASON: To ensure that the development can be adequately drained.

No development shall commence on site until details of the retaining
wall supporting the public right of way at the rear of the site (including
structural calculations and design specification) have been submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details prior to first occupation of the dwelling.

REASON: To protect the public right of way.

The dwelling hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the 2m high
wall on the boundary with 9 Bayntun Close has been constructed in
accordance with the details shown on the approved plans. The wall
shall be maintained in accordance with the approved details
thereafter.

REASON: In the interests of neighbour amenity.

The dwelling hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the Tarmac
driveway has been completed in accordance with the details shown on
the approved plans. The driveway shall be maintained thereafter for
use in connection with the development.

REASON: In the interests of highway safety.

Page 3



7.

10.

11.

The dwelling hereby permitted shall not be occupied until a channel
cut-off drain has been provided at the rear edge of the public highway
across the driveway.

REASON: To prevent discharge of surface water onto the public
highway in the interests of highway safety.

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning
(General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (as amended by the
Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development)
(Amendment) (No.2) (England) Order 2008 (or any Order revoking or
re-enacting or amending that Order with or without modification), no
windows, doors or other form of openings other than those shown on
the approved plans, shall be inserted above ground floor ceiling level
in the front (west) elevation of the dwelling hereby permitted.

REASON: In the interests of neighbour amenity.

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning
(General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (as amended by the
Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development)
(Amendment) (No.2) (England) Order 2008 (or any Order revoking or
re-enacting or amending that Order with or without modification),
there shall be no additions to, or extensions or enlargements of the
dwelling hereby permitted.

REASON: In the interests of the amenity of the area and to enable the
Local Planning Authority to consider individually whether planning
permission should be granted for additions, extensions or
enlargements.

INFORMATIVE TO APPLICANT:

The applicant should note that a claim for a right of way has been
made which would affect this site. It passes through the NE section of
the site, including through the NE part of the proposed house. While
this has been turned down by Wiltshire Council, the applicant has the
right to appeal and there is the possibility that the Secretary of State
could require Wiltshire Council to make an order to record the right of
way. Were the house to be built it is possible that the part of the
house on the line would be required to be demolished unless an
application for a diversion was submitted and was successful. The
applicant is strongly advised to contact Wiltshire Council’s rights of
way section before beginning any development on this site.

This decision relates to documents/plans submitted with the
application, listed below. No variation from the approved documents

Page 4



should be made without the prior approval of this Council.
Amendments may require the submission of a further application.
Failure to comply with this advice may lead to enforcement action
which may require alterations and/or demolition of any unauthorised
buildings or structures and may also lead to prosecution.

(a) Application Form, Design & Access Statement (Revision B
February 2011) and Drawing nos. 3102/12A & 3102/14 received on
the 3™ March 2011.

(b) Drawing nos. 3102/11C & 3102/13C received on 19t May 2011.

(c) Computer generated image received by email on 31% July 2011.

170. E/M1/0721/FUL

Whatcombes, The Street, Conock, Devizes, SN10 3QQ - Replacement
dwelling and garage and enlargement of garden (resubmission of
E/10/1313/FUL).

The following people spoke in support of the proposal:

Mr Anthony Hues, the applicant

Mr Brian Toogood, the agent

Ms Stephanie Robertson, Chair of Chirton Parish Council

The Committee received a presentation from the Development Control Team
Leader (East) which set out the main issues in respect of the application. He
introduced the report which recommended refusal.

Members of the Committee then had the opportunity to ask technical questions,
after which the Committee received statements from members of the public
detailed above, expressing their views regarding this planning application.

After discussion regarding:

a) Principle of development and the ‘fallback’ situation

b) Impact upon the listed Historic Park and Garden

c) Design and visual impact

And upon hearing the views of the local Member, Clir Brigadier Robert Hall, it
was,

Resolved:

To grant planning permission for the following reason:

Page 5



Despite the fact that the proposed dwelling would be significantly larger
than the existing property it would nonetheless not be to the detriment of
the historic environment, would meet the needs of the applicant and
would accord with the ethos of PPS5.

And subject to the following conditions:

1.

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the
expiration of three years of the date of this permission.

REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended by the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

Within one month of the first occupation of the dwelling hereby
approved, the existing dwelling on the site shall be demolished and
the resulting materials removed from the site.

REASON: The retention of both the new and the existing dwellings on
the site would not be in the interests of the proper planning of the
area.

All soft landscaping comprised in the landscaping details hereby
approved shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding season
following the occupation of the dwelling or the completion of the
development whichever is the sooner. All shrubs, trees and hedge
planting shall be maintained free from weeds and shall be protected
from damage by vermin and stock. Any trees or plants which within a
period of five years, die, are removed, or become seriously damaged
or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others
of a similar size and species, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the
local planning authority. All hard landscaping shall also be carried
out in accordance with the approved details prior to the occupation of
any part of the development or in accordance with a programme to be
agreed in writing with the local planning authority.

REASON: To ensure a satisfactory landscaped setting for the
development.

All verges shall be plain mortared verges.

REASON: To secure harmonious architectural treatment.

Any gates to be installed shall be timber five bar gates, set back at
least 4.5 metres from the edge of the carriageway, such gates to open

inwards only.

REASON: In the interests of highway safety.

Page 6



6. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning
(General Permitted Development) Order, 1995 (or any Order revoking
and re-enacting or amending that Order with or without modification),
no fences, walls or other means of enclosure with the exception of
stockproof timber post and rail fencing, or children's play equipment
or sheds, greenhouses, garages, stables, kennels, or any other
ancillary domestic outbuildings shall be erected anywhere within the
site without the prior grant of planning permission.

REASON: In the interests of visual amenity and preserving the Special
Interest of the Grade Il Listed Historic Park and Garden.

7. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning
(General Permitted Development) Order, 1995 (or any Order revoking
and re-enacting or amending that Order with or without modification),
no additions to, or extensions or enlargements of, the buildings
hereby approved shall be erected.

REASON: To enable the local planning authority to retain control over
the enlargement of the buildings in the interests of the proper
planning and amenities of the area.

8. This decision relates to documents/plans submitted with the
application, listed below. No variation from the approved documents
should be made without the prior approval of this Council.
Amendments may require the submission of a further application.
Failure to comply with this advice may lead to enforcement action
which may require alterations and/or demolition of any unauthorised
buildings or structures and may also lead to prosecution.

Application Form, Design & Access Statement, Site Location Plan,
Topographic Survey and Plan Refs: 2011-5 10, 11, 12, 13 & 14 all
received on the 1% June 2011.

171. Urgent items

There were no urgent items.

(Duration of meeting: 6.00 - 7.00 pm)

The Officer who has produced these minutes is Chris Marsh, of Democratic Services,
direct line (01225) 713058, e-mail chris.marsh@uwiltshire.gov.uk

Press enquiries to Communications, direct line (01225) 713114/713115

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



Agenda ltem 6

WILTSHIRE COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM NO. 6
EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE

25 AUGUST 2011

WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981

THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT FOR THE DEVIZES RURAL DISTRICT
COUNCIL AREA DATED 1952 AS MODIFIED UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF THE
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981

THE WILTSHIRE COUNCIL (SHEET ST 96 NE) (PARISH OF BROMHAM - CHITTOE
PLANTATION) RIGHTS OF WAY MODIFICATION ORDER NO. 9 2011

Purpose of Report

1. To:

(i) Consider and comment on the evidence and seven objections relating to the
above Order to add public rights of way on foot to the Definitive Map and
Statement at Chittoe Plantation, Bromham.

(i) Recommend that the Order be submitted to the Secretary of State for
Environment, Food and Rural Affairs and that Wiltshire Council takes a
neutral stance at Inquiry.

Description of the Route

2. The Order is attached to this report at Appendix 1 and contains a map showing the
claimed routes.

3. The claimed routes lead through and around an area of mature trees and scrub
known as Chittoe Plantation. The plantation is bordered by a cul-de-sac highway to
the north and west (u/c 7018), predominantly by the rear gardens of properties
fronting the u/c 7017 to the south and by an enclosed field to the east.

Background

4. On 18 March 2009 Wiltshire Council received an application from a member of the
public for an Order to add a number of routes through and around Chittoe
Plantation to the Definitive Map and Statement. The application was supported by
the evidence of 22 User Evidence Forms (UEFs) and maps.

5. The Council has a duty to investigate this evidence and to make an Order if, on the
balance of probability it is either reasonably alleged, or shown, that public rights
subsist over the ways. As a result, an initial consultation and investigation was
conducted between 2 December 2009 and 19 February 2010.

CMO09306/F Page 9



10.

A considerable amount of correspondence was received, both in support of, and in
objection to, the application.

Officers considered all of the evidence available and in March 2010 a Decision
Report and notice of refusal to make an Order was sent to the applicant. The
Decision Report is attached to this report at Appendix 2.

The applicant exercised his right to appeal this decision with the Secretary of State
for the Environment, Food and Rural affairs (SoOSEFRA). An inspector acting on
behalf of SOSEFRA considered the Council’s Decision Report and representations
made by the applicant and the principal objector to the application; the leaseholder
for the land.

The Inspector upheld the appeal and directed Wiltshire Council to make the Order.
The Inspector’s report is attached to this report at Appendix 3.

The Order was made and advertised in accordance with the statute. The Order
attracted seven duly made objections.

Evidence examined

11.

12.

13.

No evidence has been discovered for any historic public rights existing at Chittoe
Plantation, though it is noted that in 1910 the Inland Revenue recorded that the
nearby Chittoe Heath (or common) had been “given as recreation ground to parish
of Chittoe..” (see page 12, Appendix 2).

No evidence has been found that any similar dedication, or dedication of any ways
at Chittoe Plantation to the public, had been made by the landowner and hence the
principles of dedication at Common Law are unlikely to apply, though it is noted that
long-term acceptance can, in some cases, lead to public rights being acquired in
this way.

It is considered more applicable to consider the evidence by application of
Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980. Broadly, this gives that where a way has
been used without interruption by the public ‘as of right’ for a period of 20 years,
unless there is sufficient evidence that there was no intention during that period to
dedicate, then public rights are deemed to have been dedicated. ‘As of right’
means without force, without permission and without secrecy.

In Support of the Order

14.

15.

22 witnesses gave evidence that they had walked routes in the plantation for
varying amounts of time before an effective challenge was issued by the current
leaseholder in late 2008. Hence, counting back from this date, the 20 year period in
which to apply Section 31 Highways Act 1980 is 1988 to 2008. This is called the
relevant period and within this period 9 users have used routes for 20 years, 3 for
19 years and others from 6 to 18 years.

Witnesses record that they gained access to the Plantation at several locations and
that the Plantation had at those points either stiles, broken down and trampled
fences or no fences. Witnesses recalled stiles into the Plantation at two points
falling into disuse/disrepair around 1990 (see page 33 Appendix 2). A witness for
the objector recalls these stiles being in place in the 1940s.

CMO09306/F Page 10



16.

17.

18.

19.

One witness recalls a sign before 2008 but cannot recall what it said.
All witnesses recall seeing other users.

No witnesses recall being challenged prior to 2008 though one witness does recall
having her dog accused of chasing chickens belonging to an adjacent property
owner (no date).

The Inspector acting on behalf of SOSEFRA considered, in his report at

Appendix 3, that the evidence formed at least a reasonable allegation that public
rights subsisted. This view was in accordance with the findings of the Decision
Report with regard to aspects of the evidence relating to whether use had been ‘as
of right’.

Against the Order

20.

21.

22.

In the Decision Report issued by Wiltshire Council (Appendix 2) officers observed
that there was considerable variation in the routes that users had taken and with the
application plan (see pages 37 to 43 Appendix 1). Permission was not granted by
the leaseholder to hold site visits with witnesses to walk routes and it was noted
that there was a lack of a wholly discernible path around the perimeter and no
evidence of paths across the centre. As a result of this, officers took the view that
the definition of ‘a way’ (Section 31(1) Highways Act 1980) had not been satisfied
as the evidence did not support that the public had all walked the same way. This
was the reason for refusing to make the Order.

The Inspector acting on behalf of SOSEFRA did not concur with the Council’s view
on this and considers that the absence of any discernible track does not necessarily
mean that any way was not used. His Decision (see paragraph 25 Appendix 3)
points out that the appropriate course of action, where there is a conflict of
evidence, is that an Order is made so that if objections are raised then the evidence
may be tested.

On advertisement of the Order seven objections were received. They are
summarised and commented on as follows:

Name Nature of Objection Officer’'s Comment
C P Smith Has always been private land It is the nature of public rights of way that
they give the public access over privately
owned land
There are plenty of places for the Desirability and need are not considerable
public without new footpaths under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981
Unsavoury things go on at this These matters are not considerable under
location the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981
L Smith The Plantation is private land It is the nature of public rights of way that
they give the public access over privately
owned land
Bromham The area could become under threat | These matters are not considerable under
Parish from undesirable activities. the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.
Council
The owners plans for forestry and Any addition to the definitive map would
replanting work will be affected if only record something that has already
public access is granted. been acquired it will not create new paths.

CMO9306/F Page 11




(leaseholders)

The Original application was for a
single footpath and not footpaths

Name Nature of Objection Officer’'s Comment
A right of way through the plantation | This is not necessary. A right of way must
would not link up with existing either link highways or provide access to a
footpaths. place of public resort or interest.

Mr & Mrs R Moved to area in 1970. Woods were | This evidence conflicts with UEFs

Lawrence fenced and signed Private all
around.

It is only since around 2001 that the | This evidence conflicts with UEFs
fence and signs have disappeared.

D Spens There was no entrance at or about This evidence conflicts with UEFs but there
position A on the Order Plan. You have been alterations to fences in this area.
would have to climb a fence to the
south.

A new fence was erected close to The newly erected fence (which divided the

the new hunting gate leading to the land leased to Mr Seed and that retained by

church, interrupting the claimed BCH UK Ltd.) would have interrupted use of

route. the claimed route. However, the purpose of
it was not to stop the public and they
diverted their route to enter north of it. They
did not see it as calling their use into
question as a diversion was easily used.

Walkers wandered where they This evidence conflicts with UEFs but is

pleased as though on a common. supported by the lack of discernible paths in
some places.

Removing individual rights of No rights of ownership are removed by the

ownership is an abuse of power. Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.

The Local Authority does not have The Local Authority is not granting a right of

the right to purport to grant rights of | way. The order, if confirmed would record a

way ..without compensation. pre-existing one.

Asks that there should be a public This is in line with the Inspector’s Appeal

enquiry (sic) at which this matter decision.

may be properly considered.

CJ & ML Objects to the decision of the The Inspector found it helpful to break down
Seed Inspector and the order noting: the application routes into a perimeter route

and cross paths and the Order reflects this.
This will simplify the inquiry as all witnesses
may describe routes more easily. The
naming of paths is a matter for the authority
to decide — this representation is consistent
with other ways in the County.

The evidence needs more thorough
testing.

This is in line with the Inspector’s Appeal
decision.

The leaseholders case is supported
by the Parish Council. It is asked
that the Council, in line with other
considered decisions it takes to
support orders and the strength of
evidence in our favour is legally
represented at the inquiry. Failure to
do so would be a dereliction of
public duty and such a decision
would be open to judicial review.

Where a council supports an order and an
inquiry is held counsel is normally
instructed. This is because it is the
Council’s duty to amend the definitive map
when evidence is found to do so and it is in
the interest of the public that this duty is
adhered to. In cases where a council does
not support an order and where evidence
remains untested it is usual for the Council
to adopt a neutral stance with officers
presenting background or facts without
interpretation ( PINS Advice note No. 1). In
cases where a council opposes an order it
may be legally represented at inquiry.

A number of specific points of
objection are raised.

Considered in subsequent paragraphs.

CMO09306/F

Page 12




23.

CMO09306/F

Specific Points of Objection raised by Mr and Mrs Seed:

Objection

Officer’'s Comment

There is a lack of evidence of use and most of
the witnesses are unable to claim use over a
period of 20 yrs or more.

It is not necessary for all witnesses to have used
the land for the full period just that the land has
been used, uninterrupted, in a manner that is ‘as
of right’ for the 20 year period. Planning
Inspectorate Consistency Guidelines point out
that is no set number to establish a sufficiency of
evidence just the evidence should be cogent and
credible.

In 2002 signs saying ‘Private Woodland — Keep
Out’ were erected and For Sale signs were also
periodically erected.

There is no indication that the erection of notices
challenged what the public were doing and the
notices did not demonstrate that there was no
intention to dedicate a public right of way, just
that the land was private.

The application was a for a single footpath and
we are being prejudiced if any alteration to the
original submission is made.

The application brought evidence to the council’s
attention for a number of routes which all linked
with each other and adjoining highways. The
total length of claimed public rights is not altered
by dividing the claimed routes into sections. The
numbering of paths in the definitive map is an
administrative detail that does not affect the
public right itself, if recorded.

The user must establish that there was a right of
passage over a more or less defined route and
not a mere indefinite passing over land.

Although a used path does not have to be visible
it is important that users have all walked the
same way. It will only be during the testing of
evidence at inquiry that this point may be
addressed.

Between 1954 and 1992 the land was leased to
the Ministry of Agriculture Fisheries and Food
(MAFF)and s.31 of the Highways Act 1980 can
not apply to Crown Land.

MAFF were not holders of the fee simple and did
not have the capacity to dedicate public rights
over land not owned by them. P.17 Appendix 2.
Correspondence from the Forestry Commission
stated it was not common practice to deposit
plans under s.31(6) of the Highways Act plans
(essentially a statement that no further rights of
way were dedicated)as they left this to the
freeholder to undertake. This was not done.

Some witnesses have admitted that their original
witness statement is negated by written
acceptance of permission.

Witnesses gave evidence of the nature of their
use prior to Mr Seed granting permission and
their evidence details the nature of their use.
Since it details something they have already
done it cannot be removed.

The land has been properly fenced for many
years. The public would have had to scale the
fence to gain entry. This is supported by several
witness statements from local residents who
object.

This conflicts with UEFs highlighting the need to
test both UEF and objector’s evidence at inquiry.

It is noted that all objectors are local whereas
none of the witness supporting the application
live within walking distance and are not local.

It is the evidence given that is important, not
where those giving it come from.

One of the witnesses, Sarah Collins, said she
obtained permission from the Spicer Family (the
landowner).

If Mrs Collins did use the woods having obtained
permission it is unlikely her evidence would be
considered (it is not ‘as of right’). However it is
unclear whether Mrs Collins specifically asked
and received permission and this evidence would
be best tested at public inquiry.

Three of the witnesses (the Thompsons) were
tenants of the landowner.

As above, if the family were tenants then their
use is unlikely to be as of right, however they did
not work for the landowner throughout their
entire claimed period. Again, their evidence

Page 13




would best be tested at inquiry.

There is a lack of defined paths. There are also
considerable differences in the application maps
of the witnesses. Witnesses also record dog
walking as an activity and they would have
wandered through the woods following their
dogs.

There is variation between plans but the
inspector noted in his decision report that the
woods lack clear and distinctive features and that
the routes drawn by people are a reasonable
representation of a way given this, and the map
scale. This is noted and again is evidence to be
best tested at inquiry.

‘the user must be as a right of passage and not
a mere indefinite passing over land. Where a
claim is set up to an ancient public footpath
through a wood, it may be shown that the public
have merely wandered about the wood as they
pleased; that there is no made path, but only a
track, never repaired and in wet weather hardly
passable. Similarly if there is no definite
enduring track way, but merely temporary and
transitory tracks, this is strong evidence against
a public right of way’. Quoting from Pratt and
Mackenzie’s Law of Highways at pages 37 and
38, Schwinge and Dowell and Eyre v New
Forest Highway Board.

It is agreed that users must have all used the
same, or similar route to acquire a public right. It
should become apparent, when evidence is
tested, whether this has been the case or not.

‘Public rights of way must follow a defined line’
quoting from the Planning Inspectorates
Inspector’s decision on a case in Marlborough
2005.

It is agreed that a defined line must be followed
but until the evidence is tested it is not possible
to say whether the public had done this, or not.
Inspector’s decisions do not set precedents and
the decision will have been based very
specifically on the evidence relevant to that case.

.Main Considerations for the Council

24.

25.

26.

27.

CMO09306/F

The Council, as the surveying authority for the County of Wiltshire excluding the
Borough of Swindon, has a duty under Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside
Act 1981 to investigate the application made by Mr N Thomas. Section 53 of the
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 deals with the duty to keep the Definitive Map

and Statement under continuous review.

Section 53(2)(b) states:

“as regards every definitive map and statement, the surveying authority shall:
“as from that date (the commencement date), keep the map and statement
under continuous review and as soon as reasonably practicable after the
occurrence, on or after that date, of any of those events, by order make such
modifications to the map and statement as appear to them to be requisite in
consequence of the occurrence of that event’.

The events referred to in Section 53(2)(b) relevant to this case are set out below in

Section 53(3)(c)(i):

“the discovery by the authority of evidence which (when considered with all
other relevant evidence available to them) shows: that a right of way which is
not shown in the map and statement subsists or is reasonably alleged to
subsist over land in the area to which the map relates, being a right of way to

which this Part applies.”

In considering and determining the application, Wiltshire Council must have regard
to ‘all other relevant evidence available to them’, as the statute demands.

Page 14




28.

29.

30.

31.

32.

33.

34.

Dedication of a way as highway can be presumed after public use for 20 years
provided it satisfies the requirements of Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980. The
Section states:

“‘where a way over any land, other than a way of such a character that use of
it by the public could not give rise at common law to any presumption of
dedication, has been actually enjoyed by the public as of right and without
interruption for a full period of 20 years, the way is to be deemed to have
been dedicated as a highway unless there is sufficient evidence that there
was no intention during that period to dedicate it’.

The Section provides that where a way has been enjoyed by the public as of right
and without interruption for a full period of 20 years, the way is deemed to have
been dedicated as a highway - unless there is sufficient evidence that there was no
intention during that period to dedicate the way.

The term 'as of right' means without force, secrecy and permission. People using
the way must do so openly without damaging the property and not be reliant on
being given permission to use the path by the owner of the land over which the path
runs.

The case of R. v. Oxford County Council ex parte Sunningwell Parish Council
(1999) considered the issue of public use of a way. Lord Hoffman presiding stated,
“...the actual state of mind of the road user is plainly irrelevant”, it is immaterial
therefore, whether the public thought the way was a 'public’ path or not.

The case concluded that it is no longer necessary to establish whether the users
believe they have a legal right to use the land. Instead, it should be shown that use
has been without force, secrecy and permission.

The use of the way must be without interruption. Once the 20 year uninterrupted
use 'as of right' has been proved, the burden then moves to the landowner to show
there was no intention to dedicate, i.e. evidence of any overt acts by the landowner
to deter the public from using the way, or conversely to permit the public to do so.
Overt acts are covered in Section 31 (3) (4) (5) and (6) below:

Section 31 of the Highways Act states as follows:
“31. Dedication of way as highway presumed after public use of 20 years

(1) Where a way over any land, other than a way of such a character that use of it
by the public could not give rise at common law to any presumption of dedication,
has been actually enjoyed by the public as of right without interruption for a full
period of 20 years, the way is to be deemed to have been dedicated as a highway
unless there is sufficient evidence that there was no intention during that period to
dedicate it.

(2) The period of 20 years referred to in subsection (1) above is to be calculated
retrospectively from the date when the right of the public to use the way is brought
into question, whether by a notice such as is mentioned in subsection (3) below or
otherwise.

CMO09306/F Page 15



(3) Where the owner of the land over which any such way as aforesaid passes —

(a) has erected in such a manner as to be visible by persons using the way a notice
inconsistent with the dedication of the way as a highway; and

(b) has maintained the notice after the 1°' January 1934, or any later date on which
it was erected.

(4) In the case of land in the possession of a tenant for a term of years, or from year
to year, any person for the time being entitled in reversion to the land shall,
notwithstanding the existence of the tenancy, have the right to place and maintain
such a notice as is mentioned in subsection (3) above, so however, that no injury is
done thereby to the business or occupation of the tenant.

(5) Where a notice erected as mentioned in subsection (3) above is subsequently
torn down or defaced, a notice given by the owner of the land to the appropriate
council that the way is not dedicated as highway is, in the absence of proof to a
contrary intention, sufficient evidence to negative the intention of the owner of the
land to dedicate the way as highway.

(6) An owner of land may at any time deposit with the appropriate council-

(a) a map of the land on a scale of not less than 6 inches to 1 mile and

(b) a statement indicating what ways(if any) over the land he admits to having been

dedicated as highways;

And, in any case in which such a deposit has been made, statutory declarations

made by that owner or by his successors in title and lodged by him or them with the

appropriate council at any time —

(1) within ten years from the date of deposit

(ii) within ten years from the date on which any previous declaration was last
lodged under this section,

to the effect that no additional way (other than any specifically indicated in the

declaration) over the land delineated on the said map has been dedicated as a

highway since the date of the deposit, or since the date of the lodgement of such

previous declaration, as the case may be, are, in the absence of proof of a contrary

intention, sufficient evidence to negative the intention of the owner or his

successors in title to dedicate any such additional way as a highway.

(7) For the purpose of the foregoing provisions of this section, ‘owner’, in relation to
any land, means a person who is for the time being entitled to dispose of the fee
simple in the land; and for the purposes of subsections (5) and (6) above ‘the
appropriate council’ means the council of the county, metropolitan district or London
Borough in which the way (in the case of subsection (5)) or the land (in the case of
subsection (6)) is situated or, where the land is situated in the City, the Common
Council.

(7A) Subsection (7B) applies where the matter bringing the right of the public to use
a way into question is an application under section 53(5) of the Wildlife and
Countryside Act 1981 for an Order making modifications so as to show the right on
the definitive map and statement.

(7B) The date mentioned in subsection (2) is to be treated as being the date on

which the application is made in accordance with paragraph 1 of Schedule 14 to the
1981 Act.

CMO09306/F Page 16



35.

36.

37.

(8) Nothing in this section affects any incapacity of a corporation or other body or
person in possession of land for public and statutory purposes to dedicate a way
over the land as a highway would be incompatible with those purposes.”

The recent appeal case — Regina (Godmanchester Town Council) v Secretary of
State for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs drew the following conclusion
regarding non intention to dedicate: ...‘Sufficient evidence of no intention on the
part of the landowner to dedicate a way as a highway required evidence of overt
acts coming to the attention of users of the way’.

It is noted that no witnesses record being aware of overt acts prior to 2008.

There have been no Highways Act 1980 Section 31(6) statutory deposits declaring
non-intention to dedicate the claimed route deposited with the Surveying Authority
during the relevant period. No notice under Section 31(5) has been given to
Wiltshire Council during the relevant period (or at any other time).

The Order

38.

39.

40.

41.

42.

It is important to note that this Order is made under Section 53(3)(c)(i) of the
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (see paragraph 26 of this report).

Further to the case of R v Secretary of State ex parte Mrs J Norton and Mr R
Bagshaw (1994) 68P and CR 402 it is clear that an Order may be made under this
section by applying one of the following two tests:

Test A: Does a right of way subsist on the balance of probabilities? This
requires that there is clear evidence in favour of public rights and no
credible evidence to the contrary.

Test B: Is it reasonable to allege that on the balance of probabilities a right of
way subsists? This requires that the allegation of public rights is
reasonable and there is no incontrovertible evidence to the contrary.

The evidence adduced in this case, from both supporters and objectors, has been
judged by the Inspector in his decision to form at least a reasonable allegation that
public rights subsist over the ways applied for, hence the Order was made.

To confirm the Order, the stronger test needs to be applied; that is, essentially that
contained within Test A. Todd and Bradley v SoOSEFRA [2004] EWHC 1450
(Admin). Evans-Lombe J found that the appropriate test for confirmation is the
normal civil burden of proof that such a way subsists on the balance of probabilities.

No further evidence, either in support of the Order or in objection to it, has been
brought to the Council’s attention since the making of the Order and Wiltshire
Council must consider whether it considers that, on the balance of probabilities,
Test A applies to the evidence (in which case the Order would be supported),
whether it considers that, on the balance of probabilities, Test A does not apply to
the evidence (in which case the Order would be opposed) or whether it wishes to
adopt a neutral stance with regard to the Order as the evidence has yet to be
tested.

CMO09306/F Page 17



43. The Council’s refusal to make the Order arose from one fundamental ground. That
is, whether the witnesses had all walked the same routes. From the evidence
adduced, and as a result of the limited access to the woods for the public post
2008, it is not possible to tell whether the public had all walked the same way. An
Inquiry would hear evidence from supporters which would be subject to cross-
examination and would also hear evidence from objectors which would be subject
to cross-examination.

44. ltis only after the testing of the evidence would it become apparent whether the
stronger Test A applied or not.

Environmental Impact of the Recommendation

45, Effects on the environment cannot be taken into consideration for an Order
decision.

Risk Assessment

46. Risks or safety cannot be taken into consideration for an Order decision.

Financial Implications

47. Itis considered that with this case, given the number of objectors and supporters
and the need to test the evidence of both, that a Public Inquiry is unavoidable.

48. The Council has a duty in law to support Orders where it is considered that on the
balance of probability the order public rights subsist as shown in the Order.
Budgetary provision has been made for this.

49. The Council may maintain a neutral stance where they are directed to make an
Order and where the evidence requires testing. This incurs a smaller cost for which
budgetary provision has been made.

50. ltis rare for a Council to object to an Order, though it may do so. An example of
this may be when an Order has been made and during the advertisement period
evidence against the Order is brought to its attention that is incontrovertible. This
would attract a similar cost to supporting an Order and could be in the region of
£5,000 to £10,000.

Options Considered

51. That:
(i) The confirmation of the Order is supported as made.
(i) The confirmation of the Order is supported with modifications
(i)  The Council takes a neutral stance at Inquiry.

(iv)  The confirmation of the Order is objected to.

CMO09306/F Page 18



Conclusions

52.  The evidence from users of the woods show that a variety of routes have been
used by the public ‘as of right’ for a full period of twenty years. Therefore, in
accordance with Section 31(1) of the Highways Act 1980 the way would be deemed
to have been dedicated as a highway unless there is sufficient evidence that there
was no intention to dedicate it.

53. There is no incontrovertible evidence against deemed dedication.

54. There is some evidence given by objectors that force was used to enter the land by
breaking down fences and that signs saying “private woods” or “private woods keep
out” were in place for part of the relevant period. Officers do not consider that the
wording of the signs is sufficient to bring to the public’s attention that the landowner
did not intend to dedicate public rights, further the signs were not maintained in
accordance with The Highways Act 1980 s.31(3) and (4). Also see paragraph 34 of
Appendix 3.

55. There has been no further evidence adduced which either supports that the same
ways were used or that the woods were used more generally for walking.

Reasons For Recommendation

56. It has not been possible to hold a site visit with witnesses to ascertain the routes
they had walked. Although it is accepted that a public right of way does not have to
be visible, it is essential that it has a legally definable route and this can only be
acquired, in this instance, by the public walking the same way. If they have
wandered more generally in the wood, the definition of “a way” in Section.31(1)
cannot be met.

57. In the absence of any additional post Order evidence and before the evidence is
heard before an Inspector at Public Inquiry (and cross-examined) it is not possible
to judge whether or not the public have used the same routes and whether
Section 31(1) is satisfied..

Recommendation

58 That the Wiltshire Council (Sheet ST 96 NE) (Parish of Bromham — Chittoe
Plantation) Rights of Way Modification Order No 9 2011 is forwarded to the
Secretary of State for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs for determination
and that Wiltshire Council adopts a neutral stance at Public Inquiry.

MARK BODEN
Corporate Director, Neighbourhood and Planning

Report Author
Sally Madgwick
Rights of Way Officer

The following unpublished documents have been relied on in the preparation of this
Report:

Correspondence with parish councils, user groups, other interested bodies and
members of the public

CMO09306/F Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 20



APPENDIX 1
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981

THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT FOR THE DEVIZES RURAL DISTRICT
COUNCIL AREA DATED 1952 AS MODIFIED UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF THE
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981

THE WILTSHIRE COUNCIL (SHEET ST 96 NE) (PARISH OF BROMHAM - CHITTOE
PLANTATION) RIGHTS OF WAY MODIFICATION ORDER NO 9 2011

This order is made by Wiltshire Council under section 53(2)(b) of the Wildlife and
Countryside Act 1981 (“the Act”) because it appears to that authority that the Definitive
Map and Statement for the Devizes Rural District Council Area dated 1952 as modified
under the provisions of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 require modification in
consequence of the occurrence of an event specified in section 53(3)(c)(i) of the Act,
namely the discovery by the authority of evidence which (when considered with all other
relevant evidence available to them) shows: -

(i) that a right of way which is not shown in the map and statement subsists or is
reasonably alleged to subsist over land in the area to which the map relates,
being a right of way such that the land over which the right subsists is a public
path, a restricted byway or, subject to section 54A, a byway open to all traffic;

The Authority has consulted with every local authority whose area includes the land to
which the order relates.

The Wiltshire Council hereby order that:
1. For the purposes of this Order the relevant date is the 24 February 2011

2. The Definitive Map and Statement for the Devizes Rural District Council Area dated
1952 as modified under the provisions of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981
shall be modified as described in Parts | and Il of the Schedule and shown on the
map attached to the Order.

3. This Order shall take effect on the date it is confirmed and may be cited as the
Wiltshire Council (Sheet ST 96 NE) (Parish of Bromham — Chittoe Plantation)
Rights of Way Modification Order No 8 2011

THE COMMON SEAL of
WILTSHIRE COUNCIL was
hereunto affixed this day
of 2011 in the
presence of:

e e

CMO09306 App1 Page 21



Parish

Bromham

Bromham

Bromham

Parish

Bromham

CM09306 App1

Path No

88

89

90

SCHEDULE

PART I

MODIFICATION OF THE DEFINITIVE MAP

Description of footpath to be added Modified under

Length of footpath as shown by a
broken black line marked A to B to
CtoDtoEtoFtoGtoHto A
on the plan annexed hereto.

Width 2 metres
Approximate length 860 metres

Length of footpath as shown by a
broken black line marked F to H on
the plan annexed hereto.

Width 2 metres
Approximate length 200 metres

Length of footpath as shown by a
broken black line marked G to B on
the plan annexed hereto.

Width 2 metres
Approximate length 180 metres

PART 2

Section 53(3) as
specified

53(3)(c)(i)

53(3)(c)(i)

93(3)(c)(i)

MODIFICATION OF THE DEFINITIVE STATEMENT

Path No

88

Description of footpath to be added

Footpath leading from the u/c 7018 at
OS grid ref ST 9651 6673 into Chittoe
Plantation following a perimeter route

Modified under
Section 53(3) as
specified

93(3)(c)(i)

returning to the u/c7018 at ST 9651 6673.

Spurs from perimeter route joining the
u/c7018 opposite Bromham path 75 and

at OS grid ref. ST 9671 6700.

Width 2 metres
Approximate length 860 metres

Page 22



Parish

Bromham

Bromham

CM09306 App1

PART 2 (contd)

MODIFICATION OF THE DEFINITIVE STATEMENT

Path No

89

90

Description of footpath to be added

Footpath leading from Bromham path
88 across Chittoe Plantation in a
north easterly and east north easterly
direction to rejoin Bromham path 88.

Width 2 metres
Approximate length 200 metres

Footpath leading from Bromham path
88 at its junction with the u/c 7018
opposite Bromham path 75 in an
easterly direction across Chittoe

Plantation to re-join Bromham path 88.

Width 2 metres
Approximate length 180 metres

Page 23

Modified under
Section 53(3) as
Specified

53(3)(c)(i)

53(3)(c)(i)



SETTLEMENT
(site of)

. soRl)
_ﬂﬂ’

b
-

£l

&
CHITTOE PLANTATION - BROMHAM
ORDER PLAN

Footpath to be added Bromham 88 A- B--C--D-E-F- G- H-A
Footpath to be added Bromham 89 F— - = = - — — — — H
Footpath to be added Bromham 90 G — — — — — — = — — B

This Map is reproduced fram Ordnance Survey Material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the
Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office, © Crown Copyright Licence No. 100049050

Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead 1o prosecution or civil proceedings.
Mark Boden, Director of Neighbourhood and Planning, Wiltshire Council

Prepared by SAM Date March 2011 Scale 1:5000 Grid Ref. A ST 9651 6673

Wiltshire Council

= Where everybody masiers I

.

. Copy of Order plan not to scale

CM09306 App1 Page 24



Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 s.53 APPENDIX 2
Application for an Order to Add Public Rights of Way to the Definitive Map

1 The Application

1.1 Details

Application number:
Application date:

Applicant:

Application to:

Width:

Basis of application:

Application contents:

Date of Schedule 14
Compliance:

and Statement
Chittoe Plantation, Bromham

Decision Report

2009/03
18" March 2009

Mr N Thomas
Yew Tree House
55 Horsepool
Bromham
Chippenham
Wiltshire

SN15 2HD

Add the footpath leading from the western and north western edge of
CHITTOE PLANTATION through and around the plantation as shown
marked red on the plan.

Approximately 2 metres

That public rights exist and that the route should be recorded in the
definitive map and statement.

Form 1 Notice of Application for Modification Order (18.03.09)

Form 3 Certificate of Service of Notice of Application for Modification
Order (18.03.09) Notice served on:

Mr and Mrs J Seed, Wayside Lodges, Chittoe Heath, SN15 2EH
B.C.H. UK Ltd, Irnham Grange, Irnham Road, Corby Glen, Grantham,
Lincolnshire NG33 4NE

Form 3 Certificate of Service of Notice of Application for Modification
Order (6.11.09) Notice served on:

Blue Haze Corp. PO Box 3162, Woodbourne Hall, Road Town,
Tortola, BVI c/o Bircham Dyson Bell, 50 Broadway, Westminster,
London, SW1H 0BL

1:5000 plan showing claimed paths in red
17 User evidence forms and maps with application plus 5 further
forms and maps subsequently. Total user evidence submitted = 22

forms and maps.

06.11.09

Page 25 1



1.2 Legal Empowerment:

Wiltshire Council is the surveying authority for the County of Wiltshire, excluding the Borough
of Swindon. A surveying authority is the body responsible for the preparation and upkeep of the
definitive map of public rights of way.

The Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (c.69) section 53(2)(b) applies:

As regards every definitive map and statement the Surveying Authority shall-

(a) as soon as reasonably practicable after the commencement date, by order make such
modifications to the map and statement as appear to them to be requisite in
consequence of the occurrence, before that date, of any of the events specified in
subsection (3); and

(b) as from that date, keep the map and statement under continuous review and as soon
as reasonably practicable after the occurrence on or after that date, of any of these
events, by order make such modifications to the map and statement as appear to them
to be requisite in consequence of that event.

The event referred to in subsection 2 above relevant to this case is:

(3)(c) the discovery by the authority of evidence which (when considered with all other relevant
evidence available to them) shows —

(i) that a right of way which is not shown in the map and statement subsists or is reasonably
alleged to subsist over land in the area to which the map relates, being a right of way over such
that the land which the right subsists is a public path, a restricted byway or, subject to section
54A, a byway open to all traffic.

Section 53(5) allows for any person to apply for an order under subsection (2) which makes such
modifications as appear to the authority to be requisite in consequence of the occurrence of one
or more events falling within paragraph (b) or(c) of subsection (3); and the provisions of Schedule
14 shall have effect as to the making and determination of applications under this subsection.

Schedule 14 to this Act states:
Form of applications
1. An application shall be made in the prescribed form and shall be accompanied by —
(a) a map drawn to the prescribed scale and showing the way or ways to which the
application relates and
(b) copies of any documentary evidence (including statements of witnesses) which the
applicant wishes to adduce in support of the application.
Notice of applications
2. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), the applicant shall serve a notice stating that the
application has been made on every owner and occupier of any land to which the application
relates

Sub-paragraph 2 describes what may happen if the owner or occupier of the land can not be
traced.

A surveying authority has discretionary power to waive strict compliance to Schedule 14 when
determining an application or may consider the application to be improperly made whereby the

Page 26 2



surveying authority may use the evidence brought to its attention as a trigger to make its own
decision under Section 53(2) of the 1981 Act.

Following recent case law popularly known as ‘The Winchester Case’ ([2008] EWCA Civ 431) the
Lord J Ward, Dyson and Thomas found that if the outcome of an application turned on the
application of Section 67(3) of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 (NERC
Act 2006) then strict compliance with Schedule 14 would be required in respect of the
presentation of “copies of any documentary evidence ...which the applicant wishes to adduce in
support of the application”. This is required in Section 67(6) for Section 67(3) to apply.

However Dyson J, in paragraph 55 of his decision went on to say:

“l wish to emphasise that | am not saying that, in a case which does not turn on the application of
section 67(6) it is not open to authorities in any particular case to decide to waive a failure to
comply with paragraph 1(b) of Schedule 14 and proceed to make a determination under
paragraph3; or to treat a non-compliant application as the “trigger” for a decision under section
53(2) to make such modifications to the DMS as appear requisite in consequence of any of the
events specified in subsection (3)”

Advice received from the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) on 2™
June 2008 confirms that surveying authorities retain the power to waive strict compliance where
the case does not turn on the application of Section 67(3)(a) or (b) NERC Act 2006. This case is
not affected by NERC Act 2006.

Officers consider that while this application did not meet strict compliance when made, owing to
the failure of the applicant to serve notice on the owner of the freehold, this did not cause undue
prejudice (as the land is leased under the terms of 999 years leases). The application was made
fully compliant in November 2009 when notice was served upon the freehold reversioner.
Officers also note that even without compliance the evidence contained within this application
was considerable under the Council’s own duty to keep the map and statement under continual
review.

1.3 The claimed routes

4/ Y= Chittoe Heath
&3 5 - Plantation .}




1.4 Description of claimed routes

The claimed routes are within an area of woodland called Chittoe Heath Plantation in the parish
of Bromham. A principle point of entry from the public road is at OS Grid reference ST9651
6672, a point opposite a car parking area at land which is known locally as ‘the common’ (it is
however not registered as such).

The claimed route leads in an east north easterly direction through the woodland to the north of a
line of properties, approximately 10 yards short of the eastern boundary fence the claimed route
leads north north west keeping approximately 10 yards from the eastern perimeter fence where it
either leads south west and south south west to form a perimeter path in the woodland or exits
the woodland at two points along the north western boundary, which is a cul-de-sac public road,
the u/c7018. There are also a number of claimed ‘cross tracks’ linking with the perimeter route.

2 Historical Context

2.1 Chittoe Heath Plantation

Chittoe Heath Plantation is a small area of woodland situated in the former parish of Chittoe.
Chittoe was added to Bromham parish as a former tithing of Bishop’s Cannings in 1934". All
rights of way that are recorded in the definitive map and statement in the former parish of Chittoe
are recorded as paths in Bromham Parish, the definitive map and statement post dating the
parish boundary change by nearly 20 years.

Bromham parish is remarkable in Wiltshire as being the only extensive outcrop of lower
greensand offering very fertile soils and was the seat of the Baynton family. Their large
residence was destroyed during the English Civil War when in 1645 it was burnt down by
Royalist troops. Instead of re-building the property at its original location (now the site of
Bromham House Farm) Sir Edward Baynton built a new property at Spye Park. The present
house dates from the 19" century and was the family seat of the Spicer family from 1864 until the
sale of the estate in 2005 to the Blue Haze Corporation.

Spye Park is an extensive estate encompassing parkland, houses, farms and woodlands. Itis
especially well wooded and in 1939 extended to over 500 acres of woodland.

Chittoe Heath Plantation forms part of this extensive estate and the freehold of the land is
retained by the current owners of the estate although the plantation is held on 999 year leases.

It is known from maps produced by the Ordnance Survey that Chittoe Heath Plantation was
wooded in 1885 but was not wooded in 1773 when recorded by John Andrews and Andrew Dury
as “Chitway Heath” in their Map of Wiltshire of that date. An excerpt of this map is reproduced
on page 6, the white arrow pointing to the site of the plantation. Although the area of heath now
known as Chittoe Heath Plantation was not planted with trees at this time the northern and
western boundary roads were in existence though the map suggests that the southern Chittoe
Heath road is possibly a later addition.

The Ordnance Survey 1” to one mile map (“Old Series”) published in 1817 also shows the area
as Chitway Heath and records that it was not wooded when the area was surveyed (1808 -1812).
The southern road is however shown with one building along it.

In summary, the area of Chittoe Heath plantation was defined by 1817 and was planted as
woodland some time between then and 1885. These woods were part of the Spye Park Estate
but in 1954 they were leased to the Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food for a period of 999
years and were managed by the Forestry Commission until the lease was sold in 1992 to Bratton

Page 28 4



Limited. Bratton Limited sold the lease to BCH UK Ltd in 2002 who divided the plantation,
retaining a small section (WT118032) and selling the lease on the remainder (WT 277081) to Mr
and Mrs J Seed in 2008. Please see summary table below.

Ownership of Freehold

Ownership of Leasehold

Part of Spye Park Estate — Spicer 1864 — 2005

Original lease 27.08.54 to 1992 Ministry of
Agriculture, Fisheries and Food

Part of Spye Park Estate — Blue Haze
Corporation 2005 to date

1992 — 2002 Bratton Limited (thought to have
been managed by Fellowprice Ltd)

22.08.02 BCH UK Ltd

11.12.08 plantation divided and lease for WT
277081 sold to Mr and Mrs J Seed

Plan showing land leased to Mr and Mrs Seed edged in green. Remaining section at south

western corner lease retained by BCH UK Ltd

WT277081

Page 29




Excerpt from Andrews’ and Dury’s Map of Wiltshire 1773 White arrow points to site of
Chlttoe Heath Plantatlon

r.--f.-': ol i
s I
’ Anpzhits | 1547 nfitl L

Hmw& r{f;’;
T ¥l M’ﬁ

J, a A : ¥ ! “-‘

*‘QMH him ‘:’31 e

mv .‘l?"lmn‘l"-fﬂnhA\M.&v i i
i

Tt

STockeley .-'.:'
b L EComman |l
1 L

TR

Stockl ey JI.-

L. Al

% i
e il

e e e a --H.
\ Wands Dizedy or H mql

X & ! i |
i ! ".
<l / \

| ! "
fi #, GRreTr é.'I-JiF:’_aﬂ'h"l .

f?.. e W

Brombhan: I gl A g}
\<f,»w;mw fﬁftwﬁ" e

: \\
e M,{' o r(lr‘-’t?(:f i . .. .
Sty .-',p'tl-h;\f 2 1-"!' "z | \ P 4‘*’;"’-{\_\ A f‘_-::,. e Sk i g
'?[)('-"IJ% 3{{?(-')’ F" f\ II
] o );:'*h-M- -:.Ti :(/;1'\;}\45(?”( .
JJHHA%( ..-a-,.: 3 N l‘t-h.ET ftlrI (2 \{h :
gy Haweke %, N e
o Streeg // SN e ,' \ :
¥ 1=

A !
:_?-"'-[.- f‘?(// :\\t:*i"- -'f-" ‘\‘\I ]

/ ol I \
n"l( ll(] Ih .h']—l'r. "_'oh |

J  ~& 1

Fde

"Victoria County History Vol VII

2.2 Tracks, paths and Woodland management

The Ordnance Survey’s 1:2500 County Series maps provide a record of physical features from
the time of their original survey (1885 for these map sheets) through a series of revisions to the
mid 1930s and have been viewed. Later 1:2500 plans based on the national grid (reconstituted
from former County series plans and revised) have also been viewed.

Chittoe Heath Plantation is shown on two sheets, Sheet 33.4 and Sheet 26.16. It is shown on
Sheet ST96(66) for grid series maps.

Page 30 6



Maps were viewed to see whether any paths through or around the woodland had been recorded
by surveyors, what degree and type of planting existed and whether any other features were
represented that are not visible today.

%|Instructions to surveyors from 1883 onwards (Southampton Circular 16" February 1883) were
that footpaths were shown by ‘F.P.’ the object being that the public may not mistake them for
roads traversable for horses or wheeled traffic and in 1893 (Southampton Circular 7™ July 1893)
surveyors were instructed to show not only public F.P.s but also” private footpaths through fields
if they are of a permanent character, these will generally be indicated by their being made or
gravelled”, however it was stated that “mere convenience footpaths for the use of a household,
cottage or farm...should not be shown...Private paths in woods should not be shown”.

From 1963 onwards the Ordnance survey represented not only types of tree (coniferous, non-
coniferous, coppiced or scrub) but also the density of cover. The density is indicated (except for
coppice) according to how far apart the trees or bushes are; ‘close’ (less than 5 metres),’medium’
(5-17 metres), ‘open’ (over 17 metres) and ‘scattered’ (Instructions for detailed survey, revision
and examination of large scale plans 1963, Ordnance Survey). *Hence 4 trees drawn together is
‘close’, 3 trees drawn together is ‘medium’, 2 trees drawn together is ‘open’ and single trees in a
plantation are ‘scattered’. Other conventions applied regarding paths, tracks and fences of a
temporary nature were not shown.

2 Ordnance Survey Maps A Concise Guide for Historians Richard Oliver ISBN1 870598 24 5
% Ordnance Survey Maps A Descriptive Manual J B Harley HMSO

Ordnance Survey 1:2500 First Edition 1885 Sheets 33.4 and 26.16

Chittoe Heath Plantation is named and shown as an area (parcel number 78) of Mixed Wood.
An unfenced track is shown leading from north to south along the eastern boundary of the
plantation. It does not carry the letters F.P. The roads surrounding the plantation are shown
shaded and coloured sienna as metalled public roads.

Excerpt from Sheet 26.16

Page 31 !



Ordnance Survey 1:2500 Second Edition 1901 Sheets 33.4 and 26.16 revised 1899

Chittoe Heath Plantation is named and shown as an area (parcel number 77) of mixed woodland.
The track that was shown in the First Edition of 1885 is represented by just one pecked line to
show the limit of a clearing.

Excerpt from Sheet 26.16

Ordnance Survey 1:2500 Edition of 1924 Sheets 33.4 and 26.16 revised 1922

Chittoe Heath Plantation is named and shown as an area of non-coniferous woodland and scrub.
The land to the eastern boundary is shown fenced into one larger parcel (76b) and one smaller
enclosure which remains open to the side of the woodland (76a).

Excerpt from Sheet 26.16

Page 32 8



It is noted that an area of woodland to the north of Chittoe Plantation, St Edith’s Leigh Wood is
shown on the Edition of 1924 1:2500 Sheet 26.16 as having a significant number of tracks
leading through it. However it is likely that these tracks formed permanent features and were in
all likelihood stoned.

Page 33



Ordnance Survey 1:2500 Grid Series Maps

2 of these maps were viewed, one from 1973 and the other from 1992. Both maps show the
woodland as Chittoe Heath Plantation, a fenced area of mixed woodland. The density of planting
is ‘medium’ (one tree every 5 to 17 metres) and there are areas of scrub shown distributed
throughout the woodland approximately on the lines of the claimed routes. No paths are shown
in the woods and the land to the east had, by 1971, become one fenced field.

ST9666-9766 Printed 1973 Revised from former County Plans Nov 1971

ST9666 1992 publication




Early estate maps dating from 1807, 1809 and 1812 (Wiltshire and Swindon History Centre
574\287, 574\288 and 574\289) do not show any planting on Chittoe Heath though an undated
map associated with tithe surveys of the late 1830s/1840s does show the area planted.

|

B
L]

Very little evidence of woodland management has been found. Ordnance Survey maps suggest
that mixed woodland was planted at some time in the mid 1800s (possibly coincidental with the
Spicer family’s ownership of Spye Park Estate) and that there was clearance of coniferous
species between 1899 and 1922 (again possibly coincidental with First World War demand).
Maps suggest that some coniferous species were re-established by the early 1970s (possibly as
a result of Forestry Commission involvement) but that a considerable amount of the woodland
was ‘scrub’.

A track along the eastern edge of the woods did exist in the late 1800s but by 1922 had ceased
to be recorded as a feature.

The Forestry Commission (holders of the lease from 1954 to November 1992) wrote to Wiltshire
Council on the 23™ December 2009 saying that regrettably due to changes in staff they were
unable to confirm any specific details of the public in the wood or repairs to fences.

Local people suggest that some work was done in the woodland by students from Lackham
College but officers have been unable to confirm this with the college.

A representative of the leaseholder (BCH UK Ltd) from 1992 to 2008 does report looking at
replanting some trees in 2002 but makes no further mention of woodland work.

Having viewed the historical evidence officers consider that Chittoe Heath Plantation has never
had any paths represented in it and has been recorded as fenced on all sides since 1922 albeit
with two stiles since at least 1943 (see witness evidence). The track along the eastern edge was
in place in the late 1800s but had ceased to be recorded by 1922. There has therefore been no
evidence found to date to support that any historical paths existed through this woodland and the
claim that public rights exist must therefore be determined by examination of the evidence of
recent users submitted.

Page 35 "




2.3 Additional information relating to Chittoe Heath west of the plantation

The presence of Chittoe Heath to the west of the plantation is mentioned by several witnesses
who also walk there, exercise their dogs and use the hard standing area by the cross roads for
car parking. This open area is not registered as common or town or village green though it would
appear to be used as such. Officers noted that while searching for evidence of historical public
rights at Chittoe Heath Plantation that the Field Notebook compiled by the Inland Revenue’s
valuer in respect of Chittoe Heath (OS parcel number 79) described Chittoe Heath as follows:

Situation: Chittoe Heath

Description: Recreation Ground

Extent: 3-3-0

Occupier: Trustees Recreation Ground
H Barten, address difficult to read, Bromham
Rev W Wolfenden, Chittoe Vicarage, Chittoe
J Baker, The Gardens, Spye Park
Capt J C P Spicer, Spye Park, Chittoe

Particulars: Land, given as Recreation Ground to parish of Chittoe ?? 79 O.S. ? (hard to read)
Situation: Charges, easements and restrictions affecting market value of fee simple: Public
Right of User £100

The Field Notebook is held at The National Archive, Kew ref IR58/73254 entry no 772.

This document is clear that the land given to the public for general recreational use extended
only to the 3.03 acres of OS parcel number 79 (the open heath) and not to Chittoe Heath
Plantation (parcel number 77), however the presence of an adjacent public recreation space is
significant for considering the context of the claimed use of the adjacent cul-de-sac road and
plantation.

2.4 Additional information relating to the u/c7018

The road that leads along the north western and northern boundary of Chittoe Heath Plantation is
recorded as a highway maintainable at public expense and is recorded as the u/c7018. Prior to
1966 the route formed part of the B3102, a through route linking to the A342 at a cross roads
with the now A3102 to Calne. Public vehicular rights were stopped up for a short stretch leading
to this cross roads by a S.108 Order made under the Highways Act 1959 but public rights on foot
and on horseback (or leading a horse) were retained. The route effectively became a cul-de-sac
highway at this date and is today extensively used for parking and recreational activities.

2.5 Aerial Photography

Aerial photography can be a useful aid when determining the line of path on the ground or on the
presence of physical features in the landscape. It is of no value in determining whether the
public used a route or way.

Aerial photographs of Chittoe Heath Plantation taken in 2006 and 2001 have been viewed. All
photographs are taken during summer months and tree cover is too dense to determine whether
there are any visible paths on the ground. An aerial photograph taken in 2006 is reproduced on
page 13 demonstrating this.

Page 36 12



Chittoe Heath Plantation 2006

3.0 Consultation and correspondence

3.1 Pre-investigation correspondence

Wiltshire Council received the application on the 18" March 2009 and acknowledged receipt on
the 19" March 2009. Although officers were not in a position to deal with the application
correspondence relating to it commenced on the 19" March 2009 with an enquiry from Wiltshire
Council’s relevant portfolio holder, Miss F de Rhe-Phillipe. On the 27" March 2009 a letter was
received from Wansboroughs Solicitors objecting to the application on behalf of Mr and Mrs
Seed. On the 8™ April 2009 a local resident, Mr C Smith wrote to the Council objecting to the
application on the grounds that he did not consider public rights had accrued and that there was
no need for the right of way. Bromham Parish Council wrote to the Council on the 25" April 2009
objecting to the application on the grounds that it would not link up with existing footpaths and
was detrimental to this area. On the 1% December Mogers Solicitors acting for Blue Haze
Corporation wrote stating that the land is and always has been private property in respect of
which no public rights exist.

Points raised will be addressed with other post consultation correspondence.

Page 37 13



3.2 Initial Consultation

As part of the evidence investigation process an initial consultation was carried out. This was in
the form of a letter dated 2™ December 2009 (reproduced below) giving the date for responses to
be received by as the 5™ February 2010. In practice this was extended to the 19" February at
the request of Mr J Seed.

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 Section 53
Application for an order to add public footpaths to the definitive map and statement at
Chittoe Plantation, Chittoe Heath, Bromham

On the 18" March 2009 Wiltshire County Council received an application for an order to be made
that would record public footpaths at Chittoe Plantation, Chittoe Heath. The claimed paths are
shown in red on the attached plan.

As part of the Council’s investigations into whether public rights exist over this land as claimed,
an initial consultation is carried out. | would therefore be grateful if you have any evidence that
either supports that the public have used the claimed paths ‘as of right’ (that is without force,
without secrecy and without permission) in the past (especially the period from 1989 to 2009) or
that disputes this claim, that you could bring this evidence to the Council’s attention by Friday 5"
February 2010.

Any written evidence or perhaps photographs that relate to the perimeter fencing, entry or exit
points into the woods, any signs erected on the land in the period leading up to January 2009 or
the routes themselves would be especially relevant. Supporting statements or objections relating
to desirability, the environment, health and safety or security are not relevant to this application.

The application is supported by the written evidence of 22 witnesses and witnesses are also
invited to make any additional comments at this time.

This letter was sent to the following addresses:

Blue Haze Corp.
c/o Bircham Dyson Bell
50 Broadway

Oliver Price
Wansbroughs Solicitors
Northgate House

Derwent Campbell
Mogers Solicitors
24 Queen Square

Westminster Devizes Bath

SW1 0BL SN10 1JX BA1 2HY

Mr N Thomas Mrs R J Humphries Commons, Open Spaces &
Yew Tree House Clerk to Bromham Parish Council | Footpaths

55 Horsepool

3 Roughmoor Cottages

25a Bell Street

Bromham Bromham Henley-on-Thames
Chippenham Chippenham Oxfordshire
Wiltshire SN15 2DU RG9 2BA

SN15 2HD

Mr and Mrs J Seed
Wayside Lodges
Chittoe Heath

Mr and Mrs C Smith
Closeberries
89 Chittoe Heath

Mrs R Cunningham
Wiltshire Bridleways Association
Staddlehouse

Bromham Bromham Charlton St Peter
Wiltshire SN15 2EQ Pewsey

SN15 2EH SN9 6EU

The Company Secretary The Secretary General Mr Clarke

BCH UK Ltd ACU House Wiltshire Cycling Touring Club
Irnham Grange Wood Street Hill House

Irnham Road Rugby Kelsey Road

Corby Glen Warwickshire Salisbury

Grantham Cv212YX SP1 1JR

Lincolnshire

NG33 4NE

Page 38

14



British Horse Society
Stoneleigh Deer Park

Mr and Mrs M Wiggins
30 Bryans Close Road

Mr and Mrs A T Padwick
Linden House

Kenilworth Calne London Road
Warwickshire SN11 9AB Devizes
CV8 2XZ SN10 2DS
P A Brown Mrs H Imrie Mr K Appleton
Councillor for Bromham, Rowde | Ashton House 47 Churchill Avenue
and Potterne St Ediths Marsh Melksham
Rose Cottage Bromham Wiltshire
Berhills Lane SN15 2DJ
Rowde
Devizes
SN10 1ST
Mrs D Plummer Mrs F Mead Mr P Holt
BHS CABO Wiltshire 9 Dean Close 8 Highfield
Leaze Farm Melksham Bromham
65 Stanton St Quinton SN12 7EZ SN15 2HJ
Chippenham
Wiltshire
SN14 6DQ
Byways and Bridleways Trust Mrs A Wade Mrs E Kirk-Duncan
PO Box 117 8 Dean Close Meadow Cottage
Newcastle upon Tyne Melksham 3 The Green
NE3 5YT SN12 7EZ Marston

Devizes

SN10 5SW
Esther Daly Mrs J Stainer Mr R Carver
Senior Rights of Way Warden 3 Dean Close 51 The Gardens
Wiltshire Highways Partnership Melksham Bromham
Salisbury Road SN12 7EZ SN15 2HX
Marlborough
SN8 4AE
Jenny Lund Mr M J Benham Mr M N Parkinson
5 Chestnut Drive 51 Highfield 27 Greystones
Rowde Bromham Bromham
Devizes SN15 2HS SN15 2JT
SN10 2PY
Mr B Riley Mrs L Thomas

141 Bath Road
Bradford on Avon
Wiltshire

BA15 1SS

Yew Tree House
55 Horsepool
Bromham

SN15 2HD

Mrs H D Woodbridge
Area Commissioner

Mr and Mrs Du Boulay
Lower Lodge

British Driving Society 35 Bowden Hill

Hafawey House Lacock

Hoggs Lane SN15 2PP

Purton

Swindon

SN5 4BU

Major (retd) G D Micciche Mrs S Collins

34 Mintys Top The OId Church

Bromham Chittoe

Chippenham SN15 2EL

SN15 2HB

Mr J Thompson Mrs M Hodsell

9 Ridgemead The Old Police House

Calne Sandy Lane

Wiltshire Chippenham
SN15 2PZ

Mr and Mrs C Thompson
44 Yard Lane

Bromham

Chippenham, SN15 2DT

Mrs M Beater

3 Rosemary Close
Calne

SN11 0UL

Page 39

15



In addition to the above consultation all those who had submitted user evidence forms were
written to and asked specific questions relating to the evidence that they had already given on
their form. An example is given below:

Dear Mr Holft,

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 Section 53
Application for an order recording public footpaths in the definitive map and statement at Chittoe Plantation,
Bromham

Wiltshire Council has received an application to add paths at Chittoe Plantation to the definitive map and statement
as public footpaths. An evidence form filled in by you forms part of the application and | would be very grateful if you
could expand further on a couple of points that the application has raised. Also any photographs that you may have
of the plantation would be very helpful indeed.

For an Order to be made it must be reasonably alleged (or shown) that the public have used a route for a period of
time ‘as of right’. This means that they must have done so openly, without challenge or permission and without
force. Although a number of witnesses have reported that they have done this it is necessary that the Council
investigates all available evidence and | would be very grateful if you could answer the following questions. | have
enclosed a blank map which it would be helpful if you could mark and also a SAE for your reply.

i) Other than the newly erected gate and ‘hunt jumps’ has the perimeter fencing changed (been erected or re-
erected) in recent years?

ii) Approximately when were the stiles removed?

iii)  Approximately at what date can you recall a sign near the corner stile and approximately when do you think it
disappeared?

iv) Do you recall anyone selling plants in the wood? If so please mark where on the attached map and please give
any details you can remember of who was selling them and of any signs referring to them.

v) You refer to the previous owner who ‘wanted to put chalets in the wood’. Do you know who this was?

Thank you for your help. Please do not hesitate to contact me if you have any queries.

This approach proved successful and officers received 18 responses out of 22. Responses were
often detailed and some people were able to provide photographs of themselves or family
members using the claimed paths. Two witnesses were also interviewed on the telephone and
one witness was visited in his house. Additional responses are shown in Appendix A in red.

A site meeting was held at Chittoe Heath Plantation with Mr J Seed on 16" November 2009 and
officers visited the plantation on the 25" November 2009 and the 4" February 2010. The
applicant was interviewed on the 9" December 2010 at his home.

3.3 Consultation Responses

Responses from witnesses are contained within the Summary of User Witness Evidence,
Bromham at APPENDIX A and detailed below.

Letters have also been received from Mr E Heard (Mr S Spicer’s — previous owner of Spye Park
— stepson) and three representatives of BCH (UK) Ltd. Bromham Parish Council sent an e.mail
to “support the views of the landowner”. A large submission containing 37 separate pieces of
evidence was received from Mr Seed. Further questions asked of Mr Seed’s withesses were
asked eliciting further responses and these are recorded below.

Additionally correspondence has been received from the Forestry Commission following the case
officer’s enquiries but responses to enquiries have not been received from Mr J Spicer or
Lackham College.

Page 40 16



i) Mrs E Kirk-Duncan (witness) 7.12.09. Does not recall having to climb or step over
perimeter fence, did not receive permission, doesn’t know if owner or occupier was aware and
does not recall anyone selling plants.

ii) Mrs L Thomas (witness) 9.12.09. Recalls old barbed wire along side of plantation
opposite the heath, some of which was flat and fallen down. Recalls plants for sale around 3 or
more years ago.

iii) Mr and Mrs Wiggins (witnesses) 10.12.09 by telephone. Recalls some wire fencing but
some all fallen down. Doesn’t recall seeing plants for sale. Used to start their walks in the
corner of the plantation by the car park. There was a stile there but it fell into decay and was not
used as the fence got dilapidated. People always trod the same path and followed the perimeter
of the woods about 10 or more feet inside. They were never challenged or had to ask permission
but were recently challenged by someone in a car offering permission which they have accepted.
Does not recall ever seeing a notice.

iv) Mrs A Wade (witness) 12.09. Doesn't recall seeing a wire fence, entered and exited the
woods where Mr Seed’s new gate is. Can remember seeing two stiles and some plants for sale.
Also entered and exited the wood opposite Bromham 75.

V) Mrs F G Mead (witness) 12.09. Thinks that stiles and fence fell down 12 or 15 years ago.
Doesn’t remember seeing any signs. Does remember plants for sale. Marked three stiles on the
map.

Vi) Mrs K Du Boulay (witness) 12.09. Does not recall any changes to the perimeter fence.
Entered and exited the woods at one point where Mr Seed’s gate is now (opposite the heath).
Does not recall seeing the plants for sale.

vii)  Major G D Micciche (witness) 13.12.09. Recalls plants being for sale and marked on the
map. The perimeter fence has always been in a state of disrepair with free access along its
length. Has never been challenged or prevented access but stopped using the plantation when
signs went up earlier in 2009. Map shows access points along northern and north western
boundary.

viiii)  Forestry Commission (previous leaseholder) 23.12.09. Due to staff changes unable to
confirm any details specific to Chittoe Plantation. Common practice is not to deposit plans
(S.31(6) Highways Act 1980) where they are only the leaseholder and would leave this to the
freeholder to undertake. Generally they would prevent people from accessing leasehold
woodlands whereas they allow open access where they own the freehold.

iX) Mr P Holt (witness) 04.01.10. Long term knowledge of the woods. Recalls stiles in place
1972 to 1988 period. Recalls a signpost in place near the cross roads but can’t recall the
lettering being on it. During this period the fencing fell into disrepair and people (of which there
were many) entered the woods without using the stiles. The interior of the wood was overgrown
at this time and walkers either walked a perimeter track or cut across by the barbecue stand. Mr
Holt used the woods daily and describes in detail changes to the vegetation. States that people
would also go log foraging and mushrooming. In the mid 1990s when the wood changed hands
some fencing appeared near to the houses. Recalls some fir saplings for sale and a moveable
wire gateway near Bromham 75 junction. Provides a well drawn map which is reproduced later
in this report.

X) S Collins (witness) 03.01.10. Has lived in Chittoe since 1988 and walked in the area ever
since. Has always walked openly without secrecy or permission but from 2000 to 2008 has

Page 41 17



suffered limited mobility so would not have been able to step over a wire fence to gain access.
Recalls a broken down stile from 1988/9 but that it was not a working construction. Recalls the
plants being for sale. Recalls remains of a barbed wire fence which sunk into the ground as
posts rotted. This was along the northern/north western boundary and did not present a physical
barrier.

Xi) Mr R Carver (witness) 10.01.10. Recalls that fencing lay on the ground all along the north
and north western boundary. It remained there and had not been maintained or re-erected.
Entered and exited the plantation at numerous points. Does not recall any plants for sale and no
signs until Mr Seed’s signs went up about a year ago.

xii)  Mr K Appleton (witness) 18.01.10. Entered the woods near the cross roads and opposite
Bromham 75 junction. Recalls a single strand of barbed wire at an entry point for allowing
vehicle access and recalls a stile being in place opposite the heath for as long as he can
remember. His family can remember potted conifers for sale on the outside of the wood.

xiii)  Mrs J Stainer (witness) 20.01.10. Entered and exited the plantation near to where Mr
Seed’s new gate is but sometimes used exit further along the road where barbed wire was laying
flat on the ground.

xiv)  Mr M J Benham (witness) 22.01.10 by interview. Mr Benham has lived in Bromham all of
his life and can recall the woods since the late 1950s or early 1960s. He remembers courting his
wife there in the 1960s and she too recalls them clearly. The woods were always busy with
people walking and he had never been challenged or asked for permission. He was first
challenged recently when Mr Seed asked him to leave. Mr Benham had been contacted by the
previous owner’s son (Mr Spicer) who apologised saying that he and his father had been happy
with public use. The fence has been in disrepair for a very long time, people generally walked
the claimed tracks but there were others that people used. He doesn’t recall any signs but does
recall some old stiles being in place, perhaps dating as far back as the 1960s. He can also recall
a track being down the eastern boundary in the early days which had a stile at its junction with
the road in the north. He always accessed the woods from the cross roads until the new fence
was erected. Can recall fences being completely down along the boundary but especially
opposite Bromham 75 junction. Produced a well drawn map which is reproduced later in this
report. Also provided photographs taken of the walks in the woods and a considerable number
of pictures taken with their dogs demonstrating his family’s long term use of the woods.

xv)  Mrs M Hodsell (witness) 20.01.10. Recalls plants for sale and several access points along
the north/north western boundary. Remembers stile near the cross roads but used a gap close
to where Mr Seed’s new gate is. Recalls a removable wire being put in across an access gap to
stop vehicles, opposite Bromham 75 junction. Has known the woods for 22 years and has not
asked permission or used force or secrecy during this time. Has been a daily dog walker in the
woods throughout this time. Recalls that the plants for sale had a Melksham ‘phone number
written by them. Provided a photograph of her grandson walking in the woods.

xvi)  Mr R Townend (employee of BCH (UK) Ltd 27.01.10. Has worked for the owner of BCH
(UK) since 2005 and was asked when in the vicinity (BCH is based in Lincolnshire) to view the
plantation. Visited the site with Mr Kerry and noted a sign saying “Private Wood” but that this
disappeared sometime after. On his first visit the barbed wire perimeter fence was there but as
time went by (2005 to 2008) its condition deteriorated, he assumes by people breaking in to
access the wood. Challenged some dog walkers in February or March 2008 telling them it was
private property.

xvii)  H Imrie (witness) 23.01.10. Has been walking in the woods for over 10 years and has
never been challenged, it is very popular and she only stopped using the woods when Mr Seed’s

Page 42 18



private signs went up and new fencing was erected to clearly mark a boundary. Before this the
edge of the woods was marked by occasional barbed wire fencing. Entered the woods via a gap
near the cross roads and trod a circular route along a path exiting by a gap beside the road.
Recalls a length of wire with a loop on to stop vehicles opposite the Bromham 75 junction. Can’t
recall any signs or stiles.

xviii) Mr E Heard (stepson of previous owner and estate manager 2003 to 2005, shoot manager
1990 to 2005). The plantation has always been fenced but it has been vandalised. There was
never a single path intended for public access though as freeholder the estate had to remove a
burnt out car and other rubbish tipped by the public during this time. He has known the
plantation since 1974 and has always considered it private. His stepfather Simon Spicer did give
permission to walk at Chittoe to specific friends. He objects to a new right of way being created.

xix)  Mr N Parkinson (witness) 02.02.10. Entered the woods opposite Bromham 75 and can
recall some single strands of loose wire in places but in others no wire and in some places the
wire was so loose it was laying on the ground. Can not recall any works being done up to
January 2009. Recalls plants appearing for sale around 2003 -2005 with a telephone number.
Has walked in the woods since 1986 and exercised police dogs here both on and off duty. Has
never been challenged even though the woods were at on at least one occasion up for sale, this
led him to believe that the paths in and around the woods were a public right of way. Recalls
movable wire gateway opposite Bromham 75 and there being a stile near the cross roads.

xX)  Mr P Kerry (leaseholder since 2002 and owner of BCH (UK) Ltd) 02.10. Recalls putting
up a sign saying “Private Woodland Keep Out” when he visited the woods with Peter Yates in
August 2002. The sign was close to the access point into the woodland near the cross roads.
They agreed to put up more signs and that Mr Yates did this a few months later. The signs
remained up until sometime after January 2005.

xxi)  Mr P Yates (employee of Mr P Kerry of BCH (UK) Ltd) 08.02.10. Recalls putting up sign
with Mr Kerry in August 2002 saying “Private Woodland — Keep Out”. It was on a stake and
hammered in the ground near the public access point about 30 yards from the cross roads. The
public were gaining access over a fence. Returned to the woods several months later and put up
three more signs on stakes saying the same thing. He also has 10-15 conifer plants in pots for
planting but couldn’t plant them as the ground was hard. Instead he merely marked out with
them the area on the ground on which we intended to plant more trees.

xxii)  Mr E Heard (see xviii and in response to further questions from officer) 11.02.10. Fence
was vandalised and pulled down along its entire length beside the road (whole of the north/north
western boundary) and damage happened over a period of several years. The sign was near the
cross roads and just said “private”. Can recall collecting ground rent from a leaseholder in East
Anglia but apologises that estate files are now archived or discarded.

xxiii) Mr J Seed 17.02.10. Mr Seed’s letter of submission and analysis of witness evidence is
appended at B (APPENDIX B) The key points of the objection are as follows:

e That the public have entered the land concerned without permission knowing that the land
is private, that there are and were no rights of way accrued or otherwise and most of the
witnesses are unable to claim to have done so over a period of twenty years or more.

e That there is clear and explicit evidence that a sign saying “PRIVATE WOODLAND —
KEEP OUT” was put up in approximately September 2002. That sign was followed by
about three others which were put up early the following year. Signs advertising the sale
of the private woodland were also periodically erected.

Page 43 19



e That even where access has been effected there is no definitive path or paths. The
application makes clear that it is an application for a single footpath and it makes no
mention of multiple paths.

e Between 1954 and 1992 the leasehold of the land was owned by the Ministry of
Agriculture Fisheries and Food and the witnesses cannot show any provision for public
access over the land during this period and thus a right of way could not be claimed
against the Crown for that period. This means that none of the witnesses can claim any
rights prior to 1992 and thus cannot show any accrued rights for a 20 year period or more.

e That some of the witnesses have since written to us and accepted that there is no Right of
Way and thus we suggest that their original witness statement is negated (copies of letters
attached with Mr Seed’s submission).

Mr Seed’s submission was also accompanied by a plan showing that the original owners access
point was at A (see officer's map Appendix A) and that a site of open access was at the northern
most corner (close to D see officer's map Appendix A).

Mr Seed’s submission was also accompanied by copies of the letters from Mr Kerry (xx), Mr
Yates (xxi), Mr Townend (xvi) and Mr Heard (xviii) which had been sent direct to the Council
previously.

Also submitted were two photographs of signs erected by John Clegg and Co Saying
“WOODLAND FOR SALE” and two photographs taken in January 2010 of the “long standing
fence” at Chittoe Heath Plantation. Also submitted was a sales brochure (2002 sale) from John
Clegg and Co, Rural Surveyors Valuers and Consultants. The sales brochure is for the
leasehold of Chittoe Heath Plantation. The brochure makes no mention of any public use of the
woods. The brochure records that “the lessee is responsible for the maintenance of stockproof
fences on those boundaries shown with inward facing “T” marks on the sale plan”. The sale plan
shows that this refers to the southern and eastern boundary only. No boundary adjacent to the
public roads carries the “T” mark.

Mr Seed’s letter of objection states that some of the witnesses have written to him and have
accepted that there is no Right of Way. Original signed copies of Mr Seed’s Permissive Access
to Chittoe Heath Plantation agreements for Mr M Wiggins (1% April 2009), Mrs M Wiggins (1%
April 2009) and Mrs M Beater (22" April 2009) were submitted.

These agreements state:

Permissive Access to Chittoe Heath Plantation

Thank you for your letter (or the discussion as appropriate) re Chittoe Heath and we are now in a
position to grant formal permission for access to Chittoe Heath Plantation under terms which
have been advised by our solicitor.

This letter is thus to formally grant you permission to walk in our woodland (‘the Land”) at Chittoe
Heath Plantation (shown edged red and coloured green on the plan attached) on the following
terms:

1. This access is by our permission and not as of right;

2. This permission is for your use only, and is not to be assigned;

3. You agree that you have the benefit of no public or private right of access to, on or over the
Land but that you enter the Land and remain on it by our permission;

4. You do so at your own risk, and indemnify us against any loss or damage you may suffer;
5. You keep dogs under reasonable control;

6. You agree that this permission may be temporarily withdrawn by us for land management,
conservation, and/or forestry purposes. We will always try to give you reasonable advance

Page 44 20



notice and will always publish any details of such restrictions on the wicket gate into the land
marked W on the plan attached.

7. the Land remains private, with no public rights of way on it or access of any type, and it is
confirmed that we have no intention to dedicate any such public rights of way or access.

We hope that you will feel that this, albeit legalistic, agreement will properly regulate the
arrangements between us and give you the permissive access for which you asked. Please sign
and return this letter to us and we look forward to seeing you enjoy the lovely woods on Chittoe
Heath for many years to come.

Signed by CJ and ML Seed

Signed by XXXXXXXXXX
In confirmation and acknowledgement of the above terms.

Printed nhame and address
Dated

Mr Seed’s submission was also accompanied by the following letters (original signed copies):
Those who responded to the officer’s requests for additional information are highlighted in yellow.

a) Mr F G Hazell, Holmleigh, 18 Chittoe Heath, Bromham. Has known Chittoe Heath since
1943 and has lived there since 1985. Recalls the woods belonged to Spye Park in the 1940s
and that it was fenced round with two stiles. In 1943 the wood was impossible to get through
owing to thick brambles. The stiles were at the cross roads and along the old road where the
buses used to go. His letter says “looking at the survey map the footpath came down from Spye
Park and then following the road down to the cross road”. He has never seen a Private Woods
sign on a tree at the corner.

b) Mr and Mrs D Moore, 24 Chittoe Heath, Bromham. Mr Moore has been the headkeeper at
Spye Park for the past 11 years and has always respected the fact that the woods have always
been fenced and a private sign has always enforced the wish of the owner. There has never
been a right of way through the woods and he strongly objects to the application for one.

c) Mrs C Bycroft, Francombe House, Spye Park, Chittoe. Has regularly walked her dogs in
Chittoe Heath Woods. As far back as she can remember the woods have always been fenced
and private and the only way in was, with permission from the owner, to step over the fence.
She has always wandered around the woods following her dogs. There has always been a very
visible private woods sign.

d) Ms P Bryant (15.01.10) 1 Springfield Road, Rowde, Devizes. Frequently walked in the
Chittoe area for the 39 years she lived in Sandy Lane. Has never walked in Chittoe Heath
plantation as it has always been private property. Was related to tenants of land on the west
side of the former B3102. The plantation has always been fenced and signed “Private Woods” at
the road junction and whilst no-one was ever challenged (to her knowledge) they had to climb the
fence and even then there was quite deep brush and weed and no path or route to follow.

e) Mr A Summers (26.01.10), 14 Chittoe Heath, Bromham. Has lived at Chittoe Heath since
1967. Always known the woods as private property and they have always been fenced. Walkers
had to step over the fence to enter. There has never been a single path for walkers in the
woods.

Page 45 21



f) Mrs L Whichello (17.02.09), 30 The Pippin, Calne. Has walked in the plantation with her

dogs for a couple of years. A lot of dog owners that have used and walked through the wood for
years know it was private property. Has a heart and lung condition and finds it is on the flat and
easier for her. Appears to have requested permission to continue from Mr Seed.

9) Carol Bealing (31.03.09). Has been given permission from Mr Seed. Has spoken to a few
of the “responsible people we sometimes met on our walks” and tells Mr Seed he may get more
applications for permission.

h) W V Collens (11.04.09). A regular walker in the area for the past 25 years who objects
strongly to the application which would be a retrograde step to interfere with the existing
arrangement which has markedly improved the condition of the area and the environment without
imposing undue restrictions for genuine walkers and nature lovers. Concerned about the
motives of the applicant. The proposed right of way is pointless and would lead nowhere. Does
not know Mr and Mrs Seed but has the highest regard for what they have achieved and their
willingness to share this area with the local community.

i) A number of letters of objection that were all essentially the same were submitted from the
following people:

Mr A Summers, 14 Chittoe Heath, Bromham

Diane Goddard, 16 Chittoe Heath

F Hazell, 18 Chittoe Heath

Mrs B Key, 24 Chittoe Heath

Sebastian Long, Vicarage, Chittoe Heath

Mrs | Baker, Gore Farm, Turnpike, Heddington

Caroline Coles, Ivy Cottage, 74 The Green, Poulshot
John White, Courtlands, Corsham Road, Corsham

Mrs L White, Courtlands, Corsham

N Bycroft, Francombe House, Spye Park

C Bycroft, Francombe House, Spye Park

Mr J Walker, Clayton Cottage, 111 Westbrook, Bromham
Mrs C Walker, Clayton Cottage, 111 Westbrook, Bromham
P Sanders, 8 Shackleton Close, Bowerhill, Melksham

The letter stated as follows:

I am resident of Wiltshire who knows Chittoe Heath Plantation well (or | am a local resident within
walking distance of Chittoe Heath Plantation). | have lived in the area for several years up until
the present date (or for many years or this sentence omitted). | understand that an application
has been made to force a footpath over the private land of Chittoe Heath Plantation. This
application is, | understand, witnessed by a group of people who are predominantly not local and
drive to the area in order to walk dogs and allow them to foul the area.

I object to the application on the following grounds:

e The land is private, always has been and there are no Rights of Way over the land.

e For many years, and at least the past twenty years, there has been a fence of two strands
of barbed wire around the northern and western edge of Chittoe Heath Plantation and this
has always been recognised by the local community as a clear expression of the owners’
intent to keep the woods private.

e Any access by individuals has been by stepping over, around or breaking the barbed wire
fence.

Page 46 22



e The woods have been sold twice in the past twenty years and have been clearly
advertised as private woods for sale for several months during these periods.

e In order to grant a Modification Order and grant a Right of Way there is a requirement to
not only establish a Right (which does not exist as explained above) but also a Need for
such Right of Way and there is clearly no need for this new right of way. The proposed
paths are not link routes. The area already has two very closely located dedicated public
spaces used for public enjoyment, including dog walking, one within ten metres and the
other within two hundred metres of the woods. The current landowners have been very
helpful in granting locals permission to walk in the woods whenever they have asked.
There is therefore no established need for the path applied for.

e Even if a path were granted here there would be adequate grounds for extinguishing it on
the grounds of potential criminal activity in the area. Because the woods have attracted
unsavoury and potential criminal activity to the area. As a local | do not want a footpath to
be granted which would simply encourage such activity in the cover of the woods. This
potential criminal activity has disrupted the life of the community and prevents local
children from either walking or playing in the woods, even with permission.

e There has been a history of vandalism, misuse and trespass in the area of Chittoe Heath
woods (including the lighting of fires and illegal occupation by travellers and burning of
cars). The grant of public access would increase the danger to the local community from
these activities and hinder the landowners from preventing these occurrences.

e The granting of a public path in the woods would attract a considerable influx of day
trippers driving to the area in their cars and thus detract from the convenience and
enjoyment of a substantial section of local residents of their properties and local area.

Conclusion | wish to emphasises that | am a Wiltshire resident of Chittoe Heath Plantation (or
within walking distance of Chittoe Heath Plantation, that | object to the inaccurate statement that
the woods have been allowed to accrue a Right of Way. | also wish to record that there is no
demonstrable need for such a Right of Way in Chittoe. Finally, and as a local resident, under no
circumstances would | wish to see the woods, which are not an open space, granted Village
Green Status as a result of an application by day trippers who drive to the area from towns and
villages and are not part of the locality of Chittoe Heath.

Original signed copies of letters submitted.
People who sent this form letter were written to on 18" February 2010 stating:

Dear F2,

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 Section 53
Application for an order to record public footpaths in the definitive map and statement, Chittoe
Plantation, Bromham

You have recently submitted an objection to the above application to record public footpaths in the
plantation at Chittoe Heath, Bromham. The council is charged with investigating all available evidence
and | would be grateful if you could answer the following questions regarding your knowledge of Chittoe
Plantation. Evidence given by you (including your objection) will be considered by the Council in respect
of this application. If the application is refused but subject to an appeal, or if the application is approved
but subsequently objected to, any information given by you will be forwarded to the Secretary of State and
you may be asked to give evidence at a resultant inquiry. Your response to the following by 5th March
2010 would be appreciated.

i) Please give the approximate dates that you have known Chittoe Plantation for.

ii) Please give the approximate frequency with which you visited the perimeter of the woods.

Page 47 23



iii) Was the fence around the perimeter intact or were there any gaps, stiles or gates in it prior to
December 2008?

Your objection contains a number of relevant points, however, | must make it clear that matters related to
desirability, need, the environment, crime or health and safety can not be taken into account when
determining applications of this nature. The legal tests that must be applied in this case are whether it is
reasonably alleged that the public have used the claimed route ‘as of right’ (that is without force, secrecy
or permission) for a period of 20 years. If use has been ‘as of right’ the period of 20 years is counted back
from the time the way was brought into question. This is the event that called the public’s use into
question and may be the erection of notices or the making of a deposit with Wiltshire Council under
section 31(6) of the Highways Act 1980.

i) Mrs C A Walker (14.08.09) Letter thanking Mr Seed for permission and objecting to the
application.

k) Carol Bealing (03.03.09). Letter thanking Mr Seed for permission. Would like to object to
the non-existent right of way “you only have to look at the Ordnance Survey map to see there just
isn’t one”.

) WV Collens (11.04.09). Letter in sealed envelope addressed to rights of way department.
Letter is copy of that enclosed and detailed at h).

Responses from Mr Seed’s witnesses:

5 responses were received from Mr Seed’s withesses and one letter was returned ‘addressee
gone away’.

1) Mrs Goddard (23.02.10) By telephone. Mrs Goddard has lived at Chittoe heath since
December 1990 and has always walked in the woods having accessed them through her
neighbour’s garden (with their knowledge) . She now has permission from Mr Seed but in the
past ‘just did it'. Remembers that the woods have always been fenced but that over the years
barbed wire stretched, fell down and wasn’t maintained. There used to be a stile in the corner by
the cross roads in the early days. There might have been signs in the Spye Park days, can’t
really remember. The woods used to be very overgrown but woodland works have cleared some
trees and then more tracks appeared, could have been in the late 1990s but not sure. Objects
because traffic has increased 10 fold since 1990, people park all over the place and don’t
necessarily clear up after their dogs.

2) Mr W Collens (25.02.10) Has known Chittoe Plantation since about 1985 and walked
occasionally in there prior to 2003. Gained entry via trodden down areas where no standing
fencing was apparent or signs evident. Marked area on map which shows a length between
Bromham 75 and the northern most claimed access point.

3) C Bealing (28.02.10) has known Chittoe Plantation for about 15 years. Did use plantation
before Mr Seed bought it and fenced it and does now have permission. Previously it seemed
fairly open land and she didn’t know who to request permission from. Does not recall seeing any
signs forbidding access. There was at some time a perimeter fence but it was either cut or
stretched or buried in so many places it made access very easy although there has never been a
path shown on a map. Submitted a map marked with easy access points, these are at a number
of places alongside the road — for example at the cross roads, opposite Bromham 75, near the
lay by and the north eastern extent of the plantation.

Page 48 24



4) Mr A Summers (1.03.10) has known Chittoe Heath since 1967 and has suffered with dogs
off of leads entering his garden from the plantation. The fence round the plantation was intact
but at times it was broken down and repaired many times.

5) Mr F G Hazell (2.03.10) Walks the woods three times a day and has done so since 1985.
Remembers two stiles at opposite corners of the woods one partly remains and the other is no
longer there. The fence around the woods was destroyed several times. Enjoys meeting people
in the woods and records that his house has had a gate into the woods since before the war.

6) Additional material from Mr Seed. Sales particulars for the lease woodland dated 1991
(13.060 acres) and 2008 (12.09 acres) . The 2002 sales particulars are for the 13.06 acres.
Both the 1991 and the 2002 sale detail the responsibility for the fence as only extending to that
area shown with inward facing “T” marks. This shows that the responsibility for the roadside
fence was not a part of the lease.

Map from sales particulars showing inward facing T marks:

\\f%

.-"""Hr

Es

~ Chittoe= F—_l-.-:n.'.:w:l 3 =]
- Plantacian

4.0 Interpretation of the Evidence

4.1 Statute Law

The evidence submitted with the application suggests that the woods have been used by the
public for a considerable number of years; the routes may also have a historical context and/or
evidence of public use in earlier times and | am mindful that either the principles of dedication at
common law (the principal of long term use by the public and either acceptance by the landowner

Page 49 25



by making no objection if such use is considerable or perhaps by an express dedication) or those
laid out by statute in s.31 of The Highways Act 1980 need to be found to apply for the application
to succeed. Given the lack of historical evidence and difficulties associated with common law
dedication (of which there is little evidence) it is necessary to consider the application of Section
31 of the Highways Act 1980.

Section 31of The Highways Act 1980 states:
31. Dedication of way as highway presumed after public use of 20 years

(1) Where a way over any land, other than a way of such a character that use of it by the public
could not give rise at common law to any presumption of dedication, has been actually enjoyed
by the public as of right without interruption for a full period of 20 years, the way is to be deemed
to have been dedicated as a highway unless there is sufficient evidence that there was no
intention during that period to dedicate it.

(2) The period of 20 years referred to in subsection (1) above is to be calculated retrospectively
from the date when the right of the public to use the way is brought into question, whether by a
notice such as is mentioned in subsection (3) below or otherwise.

(3) Where the owner of the land over which any such way as aforesaid passes —

(a) has erected in such a manner as to be visible by persons using the way a notice inconsistent
with the dedication of the way as a highway; and

(b) has maintained the notice after the 1% January 1934, or any later date on which it was
erected,

the notice, in the absence of proof of a contrary intention, is sufficient evidence to negative the
intention to dedicate the way as a highway.

(4) In the case of land in the possession of a tenant for a term of years, or from year to year, any
person for the time being entitled in reversion to the land shall, notwithstanding the existence of
the tenancy, have the right to place and maintain such a notice as is mentioned in subsection (3)
above, so however, that no injury is done thereby to the business or occupation of the tenant.

(6) Where a notice erected as mentioned in subsection (3) above is subsequently torn down or
defaced, a notice given by the owner of the land to the appropriate council that the way is not
dedicated as highway is, in the absence of proof to a contrary intention, sufficient evidence to
negative the intention of the owner of the land to dedicate the way as highway.

(6) An owner of land may at any time deposit with the appropriate council-
(a) a map of the land on a scale of not less than 6 inches to 1 mile and
(b) a statement indicating what ways(if any) over the land he admits to having been dedicated as
highways;
And, in any case in which such a deposit has been made, statutory declarations made by that
owner or by his successors in title and lodged by him or them with the appropriate council at any
time —

(i) within ten years from the date of deposit

(ii) within ten years from the date on which any previous declaration was last lodged under

this section,

to the effect that no additional way (other than any specifically indicated in the declaration) over
the land delineated on the said map has been dedicated as a highway since the date of the
deposit, or since the date of the lodgement of such previous declaration, as the case may be,
are, in the absence of proof of a contrary intention, sufficient evidence to negative the intention of
the owner or his successors in title to dedicate any such additional way as a highway.

Page 50 26



(7) For the purpose of the foregoing provisions of this section, ‘owner’, in relation to any land,
means a person who is for the time being entitled to dispose of the fee simple in the land; and for
the purposes of subsections (5) and (6) above ‘the appropriate council’ means the council of the
county, metropolitan district or London Borough in which the way (in the case of subsection (5))
or the land (in the case of subsection (6)) is situated or, where the land is situated in the City, the
Common Council.

(7A) Subsection (7B) applies where the matter bringing the right of the public to use a way into
question is an application under section 53(5) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 for an
Order making modifications so as to show the right on the definitive map and statement.

(7B) The date mentioned in subsection (2) is to be treated as being the date on which the
application is made in accordance with paragraph 1 of Schedule 14 to the 1981 Act.

(8) Nothing in this section affects any incapacity of a corporation or other body or person in
possession of land for public and statutory purposes to dedicate a way over the land as a
highway would be incompatible with those purposes.

Section 31(1) requires that the use by the public must have been as of right without interruption
for a full period of 20 years.

The term ‘as of right’ is considered to mean without force (nec vi), without secrecy (nec clam)
and without permission (nec precario).

4.2 The Calling into Question of the public right to use the way

The period of 20 years (in s.31(1)) is taken as 20 years counted back from the date that the way
was first called into question.

Section 31

(2) The period of 20 years referred to in subsection (1) above is to be calculated retrospectively
from the date when the right of the public to use the way is brought into question, whether by a
notice such as is mentioned in subsection (3) below or otherwise.

(3) Where the owner of the land over which any such way as aforesaid passes —

(a) has erected in such a manner as to be visible by persons using the way a notice inconsistent
with the dedication of the way as a highway; and

(b) has maintained the notice after the 1% January 1934, or any later date on which it was
erected,

the notice, in the absence of proof of a contrary intention, is sufficient evidence to negative the
intention to dedicate the way as a highway.

(4) In the case of land in the possession of a tenant for a term of years, or from year to year, any
person for the time being entitled in reversion to the land shall, notwithstanding the existence of
the tenancy, have the right to place and maintain such a notice as is mentioned in subsection (3)
above, so however, that no injury is done thereby to the business or occupation of the tenant.

Section 31(7) defines the owner of land as follows:

(7) For the purpose of the foregoing provisions of this section, ‘owner’, in relation to any land,
means a person who is for the time being entitled to dispose of the fee simple in the land; and for
the purposes of subsections (5) and (6) above ‘the appropriate council’ means the council of the
county, metropolitan district or London Borough in which the way (in the case of subsection (5))

Page 51 21



or the land (in the case of subsection (6)) is situated or, where the land is situated in the City, the
Common Council.

Although the current landowners and the stepson of the previous landowner and former estate
manager both deny any intention to dedicate the route | find that there is no evidence of any act
by the landowner in accordance with Section 31 subsections (3),(4),(5) and (6) of The Highways
Act 1980. This is supported by case law.

In the cases of R.(Godmanchester Town Council) v. Secretary of State for the Environment Food
and Rural Affairs and Cambridgeshire County Council and R. (Drain) v. Secretary of State for the
Environment Food and Rural Affairs and Yattendon Estates Ltd heard in the House of Lords,
judgement delivered 20 June 2007 [2007] UKHL 28, two test cases were brought before the
House of Lords for a ruling on the effect of the provision in s.31(1) of the Highways Act 1980.
The main issue in both appeals concerned the nature of the evidence which is sufficient to
demonstrate that there was no intention to dedicate.

Lord Hoffman reasoned:

“ 1t should first be noted that s.31(1) does not require the tribunal of fact simply to be satisfied
that there was no intention to dedicate. As | have said, there would seldom be a difficulty in
satisfying such a requirement without any evidence at all. It requires ‘sufficient evidence’ that
there was no such intention. In other words, the evidence must be inconsistent with an intention
to dedicate. That seems to me to contemplate evidence of objective acts, existing and
perceptible outside the landowner’s consciousness, rather than simply proof of a state of mind.
And once one introduces that element of objectivity (which was the position favoured by Sullivan
J, in Billson’s Case [R v S of S for the Environment ex p. Billson [1999] QB374] it is an easy step
to say that, in the context, the objective acts must be perceptible by the relevant audience”.

Although there is evidence that some signs were erected in 2002 by BCH (UK) Ltd and again in
2008/2009 by Mr Seed (who also verbally challenged the public) Section 31 of the Highways Act
does not strictly refer to actions that may be undertaken by the owner of a lease, only the
freehold reversioner.

In practice the owner of a 999 year lease may effectively own the land and although Mr Seed’s
lease did not specifically refer to a duty to prevent ingress by the public there is no doubt from
the statement of witnesses and evidence on the ground that his actions were perceptible by the
relevant audience.

In Applegarth v Secretary of State for the Environment Transport and the Regions [2001] EWHC
Admin 487 Munby J reasoned that in respect of the application of section 31(2)

“Parliament cannot have intended that section 31(2) should not be brought into play, for example,
if a way is deliberately and totally obstructed by the tenant under a long lease whose landlord,
being entitled only to a peppercorn rent, has long since lost all interest in the way, or by
concerned inhabitants infuriated by the fact that what is in truth only a footpath is being used by
motor-bike riders.”

Additionally in Rowley and Cannock Gates Ltd v Secretary of State for Transport Local
Government and the Regions [2002] EWHC 1040 Elias J considered the acts of a tenant with
regard to interrupting use as of right. In this case the tenant had inadvertently allowed public use
to accrue rights by not differentiating sufficiently between use by implied licence or implied
permission (because he knew the users) and use by the public generally. Elias J overturned an
inspector’s decision that a tenant’s acquiescence should not bind the landlord.

Page 52 28



“I consider that the conclusion reached by the Inspector that there was no evidence that any
turning back had in any event been authorised by the freeholder involved an error in law. A
similar argument was advanced in Lewis and rejected, the court apparently taking the view that if
it is alleged that the freeholder has a different intention to the tenant, there should at least be
evidence establishing that: see Lord Evershed at p.443”.

Hence if the actions of the owner of the lease for Chittoe Plantation are considered with respect
to Sections 2 and 3 of the Highways Act 1980 there are three possible dates for the calling into
question of the public’s right to use the way:

i) August 2002. The date of the erection of signs by BCH (UK) Ltd

ii) Dec 2008/January 2009. The date of the erection of signs and challenges by Mr
Seed.

iii) March 2009. The date of the application.

Section 3 of the 1980 Act requires that the notices are inconsistent with the dedication of the way
as a highway; case law determines that the challenge must be perceptible to the relevant
audience. There is considerable doubt about what the notices erected by BCH (UK) Ltd said,
although Mr Kerry and Mr Yates remember that they said “Private Woodland — Keep Out”, Mr
Townend recalls that they said “Private Wood” and Mr Heard recalls that they said “Private”.
Their presence does also not seem to have been noted by the majority of users and they
certainly did not prevent use whereas Mr Seed’s signs some 4 years later were noticed by the
public and his challenges were effective.

It is feature of rights of way in England and Wales that there is a public right over private land,
hence a sign stating that the land is Private is not inconsistent with the dedication of a way as a
highway. The addition of the words Keep Out may be taken to mean that the woods should be
kept out of and that a path should be adhered to, however, Mr Seed’s sign is wholly inconsistent
with the dedication of the way as a highway.

Page 53 29



Officers therefore consider that the public’s use was brought into question by Mr Seed and that
the 20 year period that should be considered is from December 1988 to December 2008.

4.3 The nature of the public use

Section 31(1) of the Highways Act 1980 requires that the way must have been enjoyed by the
public ‘as of right’. The term ‘as of right’ is considered to mean without force (nec vi), without
secrecy (nec clam) and without permission (nec precario). These points will be considered
individually:

i) Without Force. If users employ force to perhaps break a lock on a gate or to cut barbed wire
then this requirement is not satisfied.

There is no doubt that Chittoe Plantation has been enclosed for a considerable period of time.
The Ordnance Survey mapped it as fenced and all withesses refer to there being a fence or parts
of a fence in varying states of decay around the woodland, specifically around the north and
north western boundary where all public access has occurred. There is clearly a conflict of
evidence relating to this fence, those objecting to the application maintain that the fence has
been vandalised. Mr Townend, while inspecting the plantation for BCH (UK) Ltd reported that
the fence had been intact in 2005 but that it had deteriorated by 2008 presumably because
people had been breaking into the woodland. Mr Yates reports that in 2002 the public were
gaining access over a fence and Mr Heard reports that the fence was vandalised over a number
of years but does not say when. Mr Seed states that although he has erected the new gate
pictured on p.29 and some ‘hunt jumps’ along the perimeter, other than that he has not
maintained the perimeter fence at all. Mr Hazell remembers the woods from 1943 and that they
were fenced at that time. 19 other objectors refer to the woods as being fenced.

Witnesses for the application refer to there being; some wire, broken down fencing, some wire up
and some fallen down, short sections of wire with gaps, fences having fallen down, broken down
rusty barbed wire, remains of a wire fence, small quantities of disused barbed wire, remains of
barbed wire not fixed, some barbed wire, some old wire, some barbed wire but not in all places
and broken wire remains.

Inspection of the fence in December 2009 revealed that much of it is made up of old rusty wire

with sections crudely cut in and twisted in places. There is a mix of old and new staples
suggesting some re-erection and some gaps. See photos below:

30




Gap near north eastern corner of woods (point D Appendix A

ol

Gap near cross roads (point

=

A’Appndix A

o

31



Mix of different types and ages of wire

New wire across gap (users refer to there being a single strand looped ‘gate’ at this point) Point
C Appendix A

(1
&£

A & 4 ) : F e w B 2
Many users recall there being stiles allowing access into the woodland though it is noted that
some users do not. A number of users refer to the stiles being around the areas of A and D but
refer to them falling into disrepair and not being used as people just walked into the woods
through gaps in the fences. Although officers did not note any evidence of stiles on visits in 2009
it was noted that Mr Fred Hazell, an objector to the application, who has known the woods since

Page 56 32



1943 recalls that there were two stiles, one at the cross roads and the other on the back road
“were the buses used to use until it was blanked off’. The road was “blanked off” in 1966.

Analysis of the user evidence reveals that generally people who knew the woods before the late
1980s remembered the stiles whereas those that used the woods more recently did not.

Dates of users who recall stiles Dates of users who do not recall stiles
1982 — 2008 1998 — 2008
1980 — 2009 (fell down a long time ago) 1986 — 2008
1980 — 2009 (fell down a long time ago) 1998 — 2009
1962 — 2009 (stiles down) 1997 — 2009
1982 — 2009 (primitive) 1989 — 2009
1960 — 2009 1996 — 2009
1989 — 2009 (only in early years) 1996 — 2009
1986 — 2009 1997 — 2009
1991 — 2006 (stiles in disrepair) 1986 — 2009
1972 — 2008 1981 - 2009
1993 — 2009

2002 - 2009

It seems reasonable to assume that the stiles fell down and into total disuse around 1990.
Exactly what constitutes a stile and what doesn’t when the stile is in disrepair is a moot point and
because of this it is likely that some users will have recorded the stiles and some would not, it is
also possible that if the point of entry to the woods was just a few feet away, they would not have
seen them at all.

It is also noted that not all users have placed the position of the stiles in the same place on a
map. Although the majority of those that recall stiles remember one being near the cross roads
others have recalled stiles at different places along the northern boundary. Given that witnesses
are recalling the position of a stile that they may not have used for 20 years this is perhaps not
surprising, though it does underline the fact that the majority of users accessed or exited the
woods at a variety of different places as well as near the cross roads.

Another point of entry is recorded by users is by lifting a moveable fence. Users that recall this
feature describe it as being a strand of wire with a loop at one end which they were able to lift
and replace to gain entry. This was between points B and C on the plan in Appendix A and
witnesses claim it was across a vehicular access point to stop the ingress of motorcycles.

No evidence of fence repair or maintenance has been available to officers from the Forestry
Commission (tenants 1954 to 1992) or from BCH (UK) Ltd. BCH (UK) Ltd report that the fence
was intact in 2005 but had been vandalised by 2008, this is not consistent with the evidence of
users who refer to a longer period over which the fence fell down in places.

It is noted from the sales brochure for Chittoe Heath Plantation produced by John Clegg and Co
produced in 1991 and 2002 and provided by Mr Seed that the repair responsibility for the fences
extends only to the maintenance of stock proof fences on the boundaries to the east and the
south. The lessee is not responsible for the maintenance of stock proof fences where the
plantation borders the public highway and where the public accessed the land.

Officers consider that the woods have been fenced for a long period of time, Ordnance Survey
mapping suggests since the late 1800s. However, it is known that the responsibility for the
maintenance of the roadside fencing is not the leaseholder’s and this could explain how the
fence fell into disrepair and was not maintained. Although the existing fence wire or posts forms a
boundary there can be little doubt that it has been in a state of disrepair for some time.

Page 57 33




Additionally it is not sensible to envisage a woodland that is ‘sealed’ by fencing with no entrances
or exits a suggested by many of the objectors. The woodland has clearly been managed (sales
brochure refers to felling and planting) and access would have been needed. ltis also
reasonably alleged that from 1943 to the late 1980s there were two stiles on the roadside
perimeter. These were installed before the land was leased; it is not known by whom but
logically they would have been installed by the Spye Park Estate though for the use of whom is
not known, woodland management or horse riding/hunting would have required wider access
points though other private access (walking, shooting) could have been over stiles.

Even if at times in the past the fence had been vandalised deliberately to gain access, there is no
history of maintenance and hence once down, it would have stayed down and subsequent users
would not have required force to use the access points created.

On cross examination witnesses provided by Mr Seed agree that the above applied, Mrs
Goddard who has known the plantation since 1990 recalls that over the years barbed wire
fencing stretched and fell down and wasn’t maintained, Mr Collens records that in the area by
the lay-by he gained access to the plantation via trodden down area where no standing fencing
was apparent or signs evident, Mrs Bealing records that there had been a perimeter fence at
some time but it was either cut or stretched and buried in so many places that it made access
very easy, she used the plantation prior to Mr Seed buying and fencing it.

It is considered that access to Chittoe Heath Plantation by the public has not been by force .

ii) Without secrecy

Since it is the fact that use continuing without objection or challenge that gives rise to the
presumption of dedication (a central tenet of Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980), it must follow
that the owner must have been aware of the use to object should he have wished to do so.

Presumed dedication was made a feature of rights of way law in 1932 when it was included in
the Rights of Way Act of that year and since that time landowners have been able to prevent the
public acquiring rights by a number of prescribed ways.

Witnesses for the application have provided evidence of use of Chittoe Heath Plantation since
the 1960s with use increasing to the time of application. They report clearing branches from
routes, meeting other users, parking cars nearby and in parts of the plantation well trodden paths
are visible. Users report that mountain bikers used a track, that people collected firewood and
mushrooms and that dogs were let off of leads. One local resident reports that loose dogs from
walkers upset their chickens.

Mr Heard, the step son of the previous owner of the land, resident from 1975 to 2005 and fully
engaged in all aspects of the estate recalls removing a burnt out car and rubbish from the
plantation and recalls that the fence was vandalised over a period of years.

Spye Park estate gave the adjacent land that is Chittoe Heath for public recreation (see
1909/1910 Finance Act records) and were hence aware that the public were being encouraged to
come to the area. Infact, two stiles were in place on perimeter of the plantation during their
ownership. These are well documented by longer term users and especially detailed by Mr
Hazell who ahs known the plantation since 1943.

Page 58 34




Objectors and nearby residents report that people walked in the plantation by climbing over the
fence indicating that they were aware of the use. Users report that plants were placed for sale
along the claimed route for a period in the early to mid 2000s.

It is likely that the level of use meant that that Spye Park Estate as the landowner to 2005 was
aware that the public walked in Chittoe Plantation and there is no evidence that Spye Park Estate
made any objection, infact it seems likely that they erected the stiles present from at least1943.
Although the Forestry Commission as leaseholder (1954 to 1992) have a general policy of
excluding the public from leasehold woodlands there is no evidence that they did anything to
prevent public access. BCH (UK) Ltd realised that the public were accessing the woods in 2002
when they became leaseholders and erected some signs declaring that the woods were private.
The signs were neither maintained nor notice to the Highway Authority made that they had been
torn down or defaced. Mr Seed, who lives adjacent to the woods was clearly aware that the
public used the woods as he had not been the leaseholder for very long before he firmly
challenged the public’s use; he must have been aware of the use prior to purchasing the
plantation.

Given the cases discussed earlier in Applegarth and Rowley (page 28) it is taken that either the
landowner or the leaseholder could have been aware to challenge the use. For example even
though Blue Haze Corp. is a remote landowner, the leaseholder during this period was aware of
the use and it was held in Rowley that the acquiescence of a tenant could bind the landowners
on the issue of dedication of a public right of way.

It is considered that use by the public was open and was of a kind that was capable of being
challenged and was therefore without secrecy.

iii) without permission

An owner of land may give permission verbally, in writing or by the placement of signs (for
example ‘permissive path’). Any of these actions will mean that use has not been ‘as of right’.
One of the witnesses in support of the application, Mrs Collins, states that the previous owner or
occupier was aware of the public using the way because “the previous owner of Spye Park
allowed reasonable and responsible access. We believed it was owned by Spye. We never saw
any owners there”. Mr Seed suggests that Mrs Collins obtained permission but in response to
the direct question of whether anyone had ever given her permission she answered no.

It is possible that the presence of stiles implies permission, however in the case of R (Beresford)
v City of Sunderland (2001) the House of Lords held that the provision of seating for use of the
public on a claimed village green did not imply permission, hence use of the green had been ‘as
of right’. Equally the fact that some persons used the way with permission will not necessarily
prevent use by the public in general from being without permission. The same case also held
that a grant or permission could not be inferred just because the owner simply tolerated the use,
there had to have been some positive act required on their part.

There being no evidence that use of Chittoe Plantation by any of the users has been by
permission in the period leading up to Mr Seed’s ownership of the lease. It is therefore
considered that use had been without permission.

Page 59 35




4.4 That the public knew that the woods were private — subjective belief

It has been suggested to officers that because users knew the woods to be private, their use can
not be considered to have been ‘as of right’.

It is a feature of public rights of way in England and Wales that they pass over land that is in
private ownership; that is, that the public has a right, in law, to pass and repass over a defined
route on land that is privately owned.

Neither is the state of mind of the user a consideration, all that may be considered is whether that
use has gone on, without permission, without force and without secrecy. This point was
addressed by Lord Hoffman in the House of Lords in the case of Regina v Oxfordshire County
Council and others ex parte Sunningwell Parish Council [2000] 1 AC 335. In his judgement Lord
Hoffman dismisses any additional requirement of subjective belief for the satisfaction of ‘as of
right’:

“In the case of public rights, evidence of reputation of the existence of the right was always
admissible and formed the subject of a special exception to the hearsay rule. But that is not at all
the same thing as evidence of the individual states of mind of people who used the way. In the
normal case, of course, outward appearance and inward belief will coincide. A person who
believes he has the right to use a footpath will use it in any way in which a person having such a
right would use it. But user which is apparently as of right cannot be discounted merely because,
as will often be the case, many of the users over a long period were subjectively indifferent as to
whether a right existed, or even had private knowledge that it did not. Where Parliament has
provided for the creation of rights by 20 years’ user, it is almost inevitable that user in the earlier
years will have been without any very confident belief in the legal right. But that does not mean
that it must be ignored. Still less can it be ignored in a case like Steed when the users believe in
the existence of a right but do not know its precise metes and bounds. In coming to this
conclusion, | have been greatly assisted by Mr J G Ridall’s article “A False Trail” in [1997] 61 The
Conveyancer and Property lawyer 199.”

It is considered that it is not relevant to this case whether the users knew the woods were
privately owned or not.

4.5 Sufficiency of evidence

It has been suggested by objectors that there is insufficient evidence of use and that not all users
have satisfied the twenty year use requirement. On the subject of sufficiency of evidence The
Planning Inspectorate issues Consistency Guidelines for modification orders and the following is
taken from the current edition:

There is no statutory minimum level of user required for the purpose, and the
matter does not appear to have been tested in the courts. However, it is clear that
Inspectors must be satisfied that there was a sufficient level of use for the
landowner to have been aware of it, and have had the opportunity to resist it if he
chose. In Hollins v Verney (1884) it was said that: No user can be sufficient which
does not raise a reasonable inference of such a continuous enjoyment and that no
actual user can be sufficient to satisfy the statute ... unless the user is enough to

Page 60 36




carry to the mind of a reasonable person (owner, etc.) the fact that a continuous
right of enjoyment is being asserted and ought to be resisted..... It follows then
that use of a way is less cogent evidence of dedication if the landowner is non-
resident — at any rate, if the owner had no agent on the spot — than if he is
resident. If the landowner did not know that the way was being used, no inference
can fairly be drawn from his non-interference.

Use of the way should also have been by a sufficient number of people to show that
it was use by the public - representative of the people as a whole, or the community
in general (see 'The Public’ above) — and this may well vary from case to case. Very
often the quantity of valid user evidence (see 'User evidence,” below) is less
important in meeting these sufficiency tests than the quality (i.e. its cogency,
honesty, accuracy, credibility and consistency with other evidence, etc.).

It was held in Mann v Brodie 1885 that the number of users must be such as might
reasonably have been expected, if the way had been unquestionably a public
highway. Watson J said: If twenty witnesses had merely repeated the statements
made by the six old men who gave evidence, that would not have strengthened the
respondents’ case. On the other hand the testimony of a smaller number of
witnesses each speaking to persons using and occasions of user other than those
observed by these six witnesses, might have been a very material addition to the
evidence. Arguably, therefore, the evidence contained in a few forms may be as
cogent - or more cogent — evidence than that in many. However, Dyson J in Dorset
1999 did not question that the Inspector had found the evidence contained in five
user statements insufficient to satisfy the statutory test, even though the truth of
what was contained in them had been accepted.

A total of 22 users have submitted evidence and many of these report having seen other users in
the plantation. Additionally objectors and the current leaseholder Mr Seed record that they have
been aware of the use and that the use is frequent.

Users do not all had to have used the claimed route for a period of 20 years, it is however
necessary to show that there has been 20 years use as of right, that is, spanning the entire
period albeit by different people. The evidential value is increased if users have known and used
the claimed route for the full period and it is noted that of the 22 users 9 have used the claimed
paths for a period of 20 years or more (within the relevant period) and a further 3 have used the
paths for 19 years.

It is considered that there is a sufficiency of evidence to support this application.

4.6 The route used

Section 31(1) provides:

“Where a way over any land, other than a way of such character that use of it by the public could
not give ride at common law to any presumption of dedication...”

Page 61 37




The meaning of the expression “a way” was critical in the case considered by the House of Lords
in 1991 in Attorney-General ex rel. Yorkshire Derwent Trust Limited v Brotherton [1991] 1 AC
425 (“Derwent”). In Derwent navigation rights were in issue and Lord Oliver identified this as the
physical site upon which the physical feature described as “the way” runs. As he pointed out:

“You do not dedicate a right or direction of travel. You create a right by dedicating the land for
use as a public passage.”

It has been held that although it must be shown that the way has been used for a period of 20
years it is not necessarily fatal that the line of travel has altered lightly over this period. This may
relevant to this application as it is clear that whilst users accessed the plantation, since 1943 on
the account of Mr Hazell) at a stile near the cross roads (at A) the erection of a fence across the
line of travel sometime prior to the 2008 sale of the lease caused any users still using this point
of access to deviate slightly north. This is reflected in the application which claims the route from
a point where Mr Seed’s new gate is now. It is clear from statements that some users had used
this access point before the erection of the new fence and the erection of the new fence was
clearly not to prevent access but to divide the land prior to the sale by BCH(UK) to Mr Seed.

In the case of R v S of S for the Environment ex p. Blake [1984] JPEL 101 it was held that the
erection of a barrier (a gate locked against users) had caused users to take a substantial
diversion. It follows that this diversion would have to also accrue 20 years of use ‘as of right’ to
be a public right of way. It is however not considered that in this case it was a substantial
diversion that walkers may have used to avoid this fence, indeed some users do not claimed to
have used the old stile entrance at the cross roads at all.

To satisfy section 31 (1) ‘a way of such a character’ the route must be definable. In Oxfordshire
County Council v Oxford City council [2004] Ch 253 Lightman J said that the true meaning and
effect of the exception of “a way of such character that use of it by the public could not give rise
at common law to any presumption of dedication” is that “the user must be as a right of passage
over a more or less defined route and not a mere or indefinite passing over land”.

It is noted that the applicant claims a number of routes, one leading around the perimeter of the
plantation and a number of others linking in (see map at rear of appendix A).

Nineteen witnesses claim to have walked a perimeter route though they have not marked their
maps identically. Maps provided by withesses were of a scale of 1:2500 and had no
distinguishing features shown within the plantation. It is therefore perhaps not surprising that
there is some degree of disagreement between them. There is considerably greater variance
with the evidence given for the use of the cross paths and not all witnesses claim to have used
all of the routes claimed in the application. The most commonly reported cross path leads from
point B to the eastern perimeter path and it would seem that only witnesses 2,3,4,5,10 and 12
have walked the same route as shown on their evidence maps.

Of the 22 users 10 can recall seeing the plants for sale (possibly in the late 1990s) and they all
agree that the plants were for sale in the same place, hence it is likely that not only because they
all saw the plants but also because the plants were put on a route where people walked that
these people were all walking the same track. This is at a point approximately 50 metres into the
plantation opposite the Bromham 75 junction.

Witnesses also record using different access points to the plantation with 19 reporting using an
access point near to the cross roads/Mr Seed’s new gate (point A on map in Appendix A), 16
reporting using an access point opposite Bromham 75 (point B), 9 report accessing the plantation
further along the road by the lay by (point C) and 14 report accessing the plantation at point D

Page 62 38



which is the entrance to the woods near the eastern boundary and probably location of the

second stile reported by Mr Hazell as being up in 1943.

Examples of variance of routes claimed by witnesses:

Ms H Imrie:

Mr P Holt:

R SR
i R
1S .‘_“H-‘.:m_”-_-_:-.Chrttoej,Heé‘H}\\gv !

4 Plantation =

Page 63

39



Application:

OV

e

47/ —_ Chittoe Heath

Plantation ~—\

Page 64

40



It is clear that there is variance in the routes drawn on the maps. Officers would normally in a
circumstance such as this meet witnesses individually on site and ask them to walk where they
had in the past. This was not possible in this case as the leasehold owner, Mr Seed, did not
grant permission for officers to meet others in the woods.

Free access was granted to officers though it is noted that is not required as officers are
authorised under the Highways Act 1980 s.289 to enter land to survey and under s.293 of the
Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 to enter land to survey.

As a result of these restrictions the case officer requested that users submit photographs of the
routes they had used. Commander Padwick, Mr Benham and Mrs Hodsell were especially
helpful in this regard.

Commander Padwick’s photos show that he had walked the same route at different times of the
year, below are two images which show that he had walked the perimeter track from the

bluebells corner leading north about 10 metres in from the eastern boundary fence. One image
is taken in the winter and the other in the spring. A distinctive tree shows that they are taken in
the same spot. The photographs spanned the years 2005 to date.

Page 65 41



=
(2]
—
Q
<
e
(@]
£
—-—
>
Ko}
C
o
0}
2}
O]
Ko}
o
>
Q
o
e
-
)
o
-
(&)
=
—
2
©
©
[%2]
O]
)
L
o
]
S
o}
2}
£
-—
@®
<
-
=
o
<
72}
72}
<
Q
©
—
(@]
®]
-—
o
<
o
w
S
@©
<
c
]
m
e
=

t
o
c

2
>
Q
o




Officers visited the site in December and in February and found that whilst in parts the perimeter
route was clear and unequivocal, in other parts it was impossible to discern any walked line. It
was also not possible to tell where cross paths went.

stern

In the area along the ea

boundary it is reasonabl

o f
Al

clear where the pat

3y

L
o

h Ieads:

But along the road bounda

it is not clear where the pathis:
u‘-l'\T ; pl "-:

&l e 3

Page 67 43



The next picture is taken from the access point opposite Bromham 75 looking south
towards Mr Seed’s new gate — access point A. It is not clear where the path is:

R é.:l“ | . \t_ IE 12 71&i -\ i
¥4 ' AN
es| ' | L

g

Referring to Lightman J' s comments in Oxfordshire County Council v Oxfordshire City Council
[2004] Ch 253 it is not considered that the right of passage has been established over a more or
less defined route. Officers are also mindful of a decision by the Planning Inspectorate in 2005
not to confirm an order made by Wiltshire County Council to record a path in Marlborough for this
reason.

4.7 Application of the law to Crown Land

Between 1954 and 1992 the leasehold for Chittoe Plantation was held by the Crown. Although in
general only the person or statutory body that holds the freehold in land has the legal capacity to
dedicate in Rowley v SSTLR and Shropshire County Council (QBD) [2002] EWHC 2758 it was
held that the acquiescence of a tenant could bind the landowners on the issue of dedication of a
public right of way. Hence although the Crown did not have the power to dedicate, their
acquiescence could have led to deemed dedication of the way.

The general principle is that legislation applies to Crown Land only if particular legislation
provides for it to apply. Thus since the National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949
and the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 provide that they are to apply to Crown Land, rights of
way over Crown Land can be shown on definitive maps. However, the Highways Act 1980 and
its predecessors do not bind the Crown and any claim for a right of way across land which is, or
was, Crown land, cannot rely on the 20 year provisions of section 31 of the 1980 Act. Itis
however noted that the Crown may enter into an agreement under section 327 of the 1980 Act
for it to apply. Itis also noted that dedication may occur at common law over Crown Land.

Page 68 44




It is also noted that in the Forestry Commission’s response to the officer’'s enquiries that they did
not consider that they had the power to dedicate as they satted that they considered that the
freeholder should deal with any statutory deposits (S.31(6) of the 1980 Act).

Officers consider that because the Crown was not the freehold reversioner it would still be
possible for Section 31 of the 1980 to apply.

5.0 Conclusion

The evidence given by witnesses both for and against the application has been found to be
cogent, honest, accurate, credible and largely consistent.

For an order to be made to record public footpaths in the definitive map and statement it must be
shown that a right of way subsists or is reasonably alleged to subsist over land in the area to
which the map relates.

This report has looked to the satisfaction of Section 31(1) of the Highways Act 1980. If Section
31 (1) is satisfied then it is necessary to look for evidence that there was no intention during the
relevant period to dedicate it.

Section 31 (1) states:

Where a way over any land, other than a way of such character that use of it by the public could

not give rise at common law to any presumption of dedication, has been actually enjoyed by the

public as of right and without interruption for a full period of 20 years, the way is to be deemed to
have been dedicated as a highway unless there is sufficient evidence that there was no intention
during that period to dedicate it.

This report finds that whilst it is reasonably alleged that the public had enjoyed use of paths in
the woods at Chittoe Plantation ‘as of right’ and without interruption for a full period of 20 years
between December 1988 and December 2008 the application fails to satisfy where ‘the way or
ways’ are. ltis clear that the public have accessed the plantation at different places and can not
show that they all walked the same tracks for the entirety of the claimed route or routes. In
places where the tracks are defined it would be possible to draw an Order plan and define the
route; however in other places it is not possible to tell within an accuracy of perhaps 10metres
where the claimed 2 metre wide path is.

This application is therefore refused.

Sally Madgwick

Rights of Way Officer

Department of Transport, Environment and Leisure
Wiltshire Council

County Hall

Trowbridge

BA14 8JD

15" March 2010
Page 69 45




Page 70

46



Summary of User Witness Evidence Bromham - Chittoe Heath

Appendix A

Withess Form Number

Name of Witness

Address of Witness

1 Major (Retd) Gaetano David Micciche | 34 Mintys Top, Bromham, Chippenham, Wilts, SN15 2HB

2 Jeremy Thompson 9 Ridgemead, Calne, Wiltshire

3 Mrs Carol Thompson 44 Yard Lane, Bromham, Chippenham, Wilts, SN15 2DT

4 Mrs Muriel Wiggins 30 Bryans Close Road, Calne, Wilts, SN11 9AB

5 Michael Wiggins 30 Bryans Close Road, Calne, Wilts, SN11 9AB

6 Mrs Hazel Imrie (and family) Ashton House, St Ediths Marsh, Bromham, Nr Chippenham, SN15 2DJ
I Freda G Mead 9 Dean Close, Melksham, Wilts, SN12 7EZ

8 Mrs Ann Wade 8 Dean Close, Melksham, Wilts, SN12 7EZ

9 Mrs J Stainer 3 Dean Close, Melksham, Wilts

10 Mr C J Thompson 44 Yard Lane, Bromham, Chippenham, Wilts, SN15 2DT

11 Mr M J Benham 51 Highfield, Bromham, Chippenham, SN15 2HS

12 Mrs L Thomas (and family) Yew Tree House, 55 Horsepool, Bromham, Chippenham, Wilts, SN15 2HD
13 Mr and Mrs Du Boulay (and family) Lower Lodge, 35 Bowden Hill, Lacock, SN15 2PP

14 Mrs S Collins The Old Church, Chittoe, Chippenham, Wilts, SN15 2EL

154 M Hodsell The Old Police House, Sandy Lane, Chippenham, Wilts, SN15 2PZ
160) Mrs M Beater 3 Rosemary Close, Calne, Wilts, SN11 OUL

173 Mrs E Kirk-Duncan Meadow Cottage, 3 The Green, Marston, Devizes, Wilts, SN10 5SW
18— Mr R J Carver 51 The Gardens, Bromham, Wilts, SN15 2HX

19— Mr M N Parkinson 27 Greystones, Bromham, Chippenham, SN15 2JT

20 Mr and Mrs A T J Padwick Linden House, London Road, Devizes, Wilts, SN10 2DS

21 Mr K Appleton 47 Churchill Avenue, Melksham, Wilts

22 Mr Peter Holt 8 Highfield, Bromham, Chippenham, SN15 2HJ

Witnesses who responded to requests for additional information shaded in grey.

Supplementary information received from witnesses supplemental to that on their user evidence forms has been added to the following

table in red.

Map showing application plan with Access Points referred to as A, B, C, D and site of plant sales at end of Appendix.

CM09306 App2A




Relevant Period : Erection of signs, gate, some fencing work and verbal challeng

e Jan 2009 back 20 years i.e. Dec 1988 to Dec 2008

Witness Dates of Use Yrsin Frequency and use Other Status and | Owner aware? | Challenge? | Permission? Gates or Signs? Comments
No relevant Users? Width Stiles?
period
1 1998 to 10 3 to 4 times per Yes FP Yes — No, but is No but the No (wire ‘Private’ Plan shows
2008 week. Walking extensive 1.5t02.0 | plantation has | aware of a | previous fence and signs perimeter and
(10 years usebydog | m been number of | owner did gate fitted appeared | one cross
total) walkers extensively dog have plants | Feb 2009) very track. Access
used fro tens | walkers for sale in Old fence in recently atA,CandD
of years who have the disrepair with | high up Recalls plant
been plantation free access on trees sales
stopped along its
length
2 1982 to Dec | 20 1 to 2 times per Yes, FP Yes, lived No Not Primitive No Some wire
2008 month. Walking, walkers and | 1t0 1.5 m | nearby, required. stiles at C alongside the
(26 years walking with dogs, joggers people Formally and D. B wire roadside and
total) parents and BMX always walk Spye Park and A open. field boundary
bike as a child paths Land. Access at A,
Family B, C and D.
farmed as
manager at
;)U Manor
Farm,
% Chittoe
‘\'3] 1986 to Dec | 20 3 times a week, Yes, FP Yes because | Only by No No broken Not until | Access at A,
N 2008 especially if raining. | walkers 1t01.5m | the new hear say down fencing | recently B, C and D.
(22 years Walking in places owner has from when Circular route
total) erected cattle sued is well
fencing and the roadway trodden,
signs (25 years linking paths
prohibiting ago) less so
access
4 1980 to 20 2 to 3 times per Many dog FP Yes because | No No No Some wire | No Access atAB
2009 week. Walking the walkers Not of the fence was up, and D
(29 years dog completed | constant use some down.
total) and regular Stile in corner
car parking fell down a
long time ago.
5 1980 to 20 2 to 3 times per Many dog FP Yes no No No No As 4. No Access at A,
2009 week. Walking walkers Not reasons given B and D
(29 years completed
total)

CM09306 App2A




Witness Dates of Use Yrsin Frequency and Other Status and Owner Challenge? | Permission? Gates or Signs? Comments
No relevant use Users? Width aware? Stiles?
period
6 1998 to 10 Daily. Walking Yes, on foot | FP Yes No, buthas | No Not until Only Shows five
2009 1to2m because heard and recently recently access
(11 years present met people when gate have points. Well
total) owner lives | who have erected notices trodden
adjacent and | been Short been paths
has been approached sections of erected through
advising that | by present barbed wire woodland
it is not a owner but still gaps covered by
public to access leaves in
footpath the autumn and
woodland winter
doesn’t recalls plant
recall stiles sales
7 1962 to 20 3 times per Yes, horses | FP Yes so No but has No Fences fell No 2 stiles one
2009 week 1to4m many spoken to down and Definitely near new
(47 years Walking people used | people who so did stiles | doesn’t gate and
total) the wood to | have been 12 0r 15 recall signs. | other half
walk dogs by new years ago. way up road
U owner Recalls
Q plant sales
“(.g 1993 to 15 2 times a week Yes, FP1to4m | Yesnoone | Nobut No Two stiles No 2 stiles one
2009 all year round walkers ever knows one by new near gate
a (16 years Walking stopped me | others who gate and and other
total) and never have been other by by cross
saw owner stopped by cross roads roads
new owner to plantation Recalls
plant sales
9 2002 to 6 Daily Yes, lots, all | Not Yes. No but No Two stiles. One where | Describes it
2009 Walking walking completed General knows that Broken new gate as
(7 years 1t03 knowledge new owner down rusty | has been woodland
total) metres that it's a has spoken barbed wire | erected with paths
lovely place | to others Remembers Normal
to walk. | broken access
have never down wire point near
been the laying on cross roads
only person ground. corner.
there and all
local people
have been
friendly

CM09306 App2A




Witness Dates of Use Yrsin Frequency and Other Status and Owner Challenge? | Permission? Gates or Signs? Comments
No relevant type of use Users? Width aware? Stiles?
period

10 1982 to 20 2 to 3times per | Yes, FP Yes No Not needed | Once Recently a Pathways
2009 week. Walking children 1to2 Because he former primitive gate and link a
(27 years and with children | adults and metres on ahs lived resident and | stiles at C ‘private circular
total) on BMX bikes dogs average there for farmer and D over | land’ signs route. Main

years, barbed wire. | were put up | paths do not
knows the Access at A | by all 4 overlook
countryside and B open. | entry points | gardens.
andis a Remains of Residents
district a wire fence have made
councillor from days their own

when cattle paths.

were driven

along road.

11 1981 to 20 Daily Yes, many Not Yes Allthe | Yes, No Only since Only since Access
2009 (28 Walking different completed time he has | stopped and Early January points
years total) walkers Not lived there asked to February 2009 signs | shown at A,
But has mainly with | completed people have | leave by Mr 2009 Fence |intreesand | Cand D

) known dogs been Seed in has always | a gate

Q woods since walking January been in

18 1959/1960. regularly. 2009 poor
Must have condition

_R‘ known this and down

had gone opposite
on for BROM75.
years.

12 1997 to 11 2to 4 times a Yes, almost | FP Yes. No but have | No No some No Access
2009 (12 week at least, always saw | 4 to 6 feet Walkers heard of long points A, B,
years total) often daily other dog and their local disused CandD

Walking walkers and vehicles walkers barbed wire Well
families on have been being in small trodden and
foot very visible | challenged quantities at clearly

to anyone in Jan 2009 edge from delineated
passing. approach path around
Present (opposite outer edge
owner the with central
backs onto Common) pathways
plantation. but not an also.

obstruction Recalls

Flat and plants

down

CM09306 App2A




Witness Dates of Use Yrsin Frequency and Other Status and Owner Challenge? | Permission? Gates or Signs? Comments
No relevant type of use Users? Width aware? Stiles?
period
13 1989 to 19 Daily Yes, FP Yes if he’d No No Not until No Access
2009 (20 Walking dogs walkers with | 1t0o 2 m gone on Jan 2009 shown at A,
years total) dogs daily basis Band D
as lots of Didn’t see
people used plants
it
14 1989 to 19 Atleast 2 times | Yes, dog FP Yes No No In early Not until Walked 2
2008 (19 per week walkers, About 2 m previous days (1988 | 2009 paths a
years total) Walking small owner of ish) remains small inner
But limited children and Spye Park of broken circle and
mobility bikes allowed down stile. an outer
2000 to access. Remains of circle
2008 Never saw barbed wire, through the
difficulty in owner not fixed woodland.
stepping and offered Access
no shown at A
obstruction and B
15 1986 to 20 Daily Yes many FP Yes The Not before No No Not before Paths are
LY 2009 (23 (afternoons) people over | 1to 2 pathway is January removable January clearly
QD years total) Walking the years metres close to 2009 wire gate 2009 defined
Q “It would back opp. through
(0]
have been gardens, it BROM75. years of
a impossible would have Does recall people
for anyone been known a stile at the keeping to
not to have that there corner but pathways.
known that it was use. didn’t use it Some
has been The because houses
walked by previous there was a have gates
very many owner left gap nearby. into the
people every potted woods.
day” plants it the Access
woods for shown at A,
sale and Band D
advertising Recalls
his plants for
business. sale.
You would
have to
walk into
the woods

to see these

CMO09306 App2A




Witness Dates of Use Yrsin Frequency and Other Status and Owner Challenge? | Permission? Gates or Signs? Comments
No relevant type of use Users? Width aware? Stiles?
period
16 1991 to 15 Daily during Yes, several | Not Yes No but n/a Originally 2 | No Fences and
2006 (15 summer, people completed because of | knows of stiles one wiring
years total) weekends in walking with | 1to2m the present | others who which fell generally in
winter dogs depending reaction to have into disrepair.
Walking on growth of | the use of recently disrepair Stiles
bushes the path Some shown at A
barbed wire and C.
around the Other
perimeter access
shown at B
and D
17 1996 to 12 Once a week Yes, Not Not No Not No can’t No Access at
2008 (12 max walkers completed completed completed recall what A,Cand D
years total) Walking Not Don’t know No fences were shown.
completed like
18 1996 to 12 Daily Yes, many FP Yes No but No — Not before Not before Plan shows
2009 (13 Walking dog walkers | 1.5mto 3 believes knows of believed it early 2009. | Dec 2008 circulatory
LY years total) and holiday | m. Path they live two people | tobe a There has pathway but
Q makers informal adjacentto | who were at | public right | always no access
C(% the lands the end of of way been some points free
~ which is a 2008 old wire access over
o)) well known fencing broken
dog walking lying on the single wire
area ground, an from Heath
incomplete all along
obsolete road
single wire
19 1986 to 19 Twice daily Yes, FP Yes as used | No No No some No Access at A
2007 and in Walking walkers About 2m frequently barbed wire and B
2009 (21 by many in some but shown
years total) people not all Recalls
walking places plant sale
their dogs some on
ground

CM09306 App2A




Witness Dates of Use Yrsin Frequency and Other Status and Owner Challenge? | Permission? Gates or Signs? Comments
No relevant type of use Users? Width aware? Stiles?
period
20 1997 to Feb | 11 Weekly between | Yes, usually | FP Yes as for No No Not until Not until Access
2009 (12 Sept and April met other 2to4 decades recently. Jan and shown at A,
years total) each year dog walkers | metres in this wood Broken Feb 2009 Band C
Sent photos Walking some has been remains of a The paths
showing sue places visited by wire fence follow the
of route at single file people from in places outer
different dictated by | the area to bordering perimeter
times of year terrain walk the wood about 10 to
and years. (and road) 20 metres in
most of it from
lay on the remains of
ground or outer fence.
was partly There is a
buried. clearly worn
Fencing route in the
unmaintaine earth and
d leaf mould
21 1972 to 20 Daily Yes, other FP Yes the Yes. Owner | No Stile at No Access and
U 2008 (36 Walking dog walkers | Entry was owner has of holiday cross road stile shown
QO years total) unfenced employed homes since about at A on plan
% until fenced | someone to | accused our 1972. Also Recalls
and gated in | warn off dog of single plants
:ll 2008 other dog chasing her strand of outside
walkers chickens wire gate. wood

CM09306 App2A




Witness Dates of Use Yrsin Frequency and Other Status and Owner Challenge? | Permission? Gates or Signs? Comments
No relevant type of use Users? Width aware? Stiles?
period
22 1974 to 18 Twice daily Yes, many FP Yes. No No Two stiles Memory Trees
2006 (32 Walking other dog 1.5t02 People near Aand | recalls a planted at
years total) walkers, metres have been in woods) sign near corner near
leisure using the removed the corner moveable
walkers and woods as poss. by stile (A) chain,
later, long as | owner can’t advertised
mountain have been, remember for sale.
bikes previous b Stiles in markings.
and B place Access A, C
owner Mr roughly and D
Collins 1972 to shown.
knew as did 1988.
previous Woods Detailed
owner of overgrown description
chalets, during this of route,
local period. As plan also
councillor fence fell annotated.
U Francis into Some new
QO Wheeler disrepair fencing mid
C(% deceased people 1990s near
knew of it stopped houses.
a,‘ and so did using stiles. Recalls
Mr Fred plants.
Hazel.

CMO09306 App2A




Nature of Use and Routes

Witness
No

Reason for use

Routes used

1

Recreation. Dog walking

Perimeter and east west cross path shown on map.

2 Recreation Perimeter paths and several cross paths shown on map.

3 Recreational and dog walking | Perimeter path well trodden and other linking paths. Path is clear of gardens but within 10 yds of eastern
boundary. Entry 44 yards from cross roads.

4 Walking the dog Perimeter path and cross paths shown on map

5 Walking the dog Perimeter path and cross paths shown on map

6 Recreation — excercising dog | Perimeter path and some cross paths shown on map

7 Walking dogs, picnics, eatser | Open woodland with paths. Perimeter path and some cross paths shown on map.

egg hunts
8 Walking the dog Open woodland tracks, perimeter path shown and some cross tracks
9 Recreation and dog walking Woodland with paths. Perimeter path shown and a cross path loop
for whole family

10 Recreation Perimeter path shown and several cross paths

11 Recreation Perimeter path shown and one cross path with spurs

12 Recreation Well trodden and clearly delineated path around outer edge and central pathway also

13 U Walking and exercising dogs | Clearly defined path. Perimeter path and some cross paths shown on map.

140 Walking the dog Perimeter path and inner loop shown on map.

15P Recreation Perimeter path and cross paths shown on map.

16 Recreation Perimeter path and one north south cross path shown on map

17 Recreation, walking dogs No description but perimeter and east west cross path with spurr shown on map

18 Recreation Circulatory within woodland boundaries. Perimeter path and some cross paths shown on map.

19 Exercising dogs Runs round perimeter of plantation. Perimeter path and east west path shown on map.

20 Recreational dog walking Follows perimeter of woodland 10 to 20 metres in from the remains of outer fence. Perimeter path shown
on map.

21 Recreation Perimeter path and cross route shown on map. Route entered at A followed the line of the old A3102 on
reaching the fence in line with A342 follw fence to houses where walk past back gardens to the common
(A)

22 Dog walking “From one stile at corner” (A) “second stile at Inner fence down slope by detached house by chapel, up

slope to barbecue basket in hollow. Here either turn left across to path junctions or ahead and down slope
to Bluebell Corner by rear of B and B. Veer left to run parallel to field and main road, between two large
deciduous trees to meet what was main road at top of area (no fence here) or just before a left junction to
join track from basket and out to road (no fence here) or on parallel with side road at one climbing over
huge fallen tree and on to entrance at corner with moveable chain or on round to start of walk”

CM09306 App2A




08 abed

CM09306 App2A



The

Bear Hms&
1

"o ‘N

Mound N\~

/

&

"ROMA
SETTLE
{site of

s e e s s

R wiTaesseS
RceaL

PLAaNT SALES
HERE

i)
Q’ ,/
a -
/f’
; y y
Va
4
Vi
S
&
7
A
; <
:; . // A
/a,8..D /
B R T el
- '3
fO.aMeD ACCESS -
POIN TS ///
r 4
= ',y/
P
Vi
Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office ©@ Crown Copyright 2000. B 03 March 2009
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. SLA: 100023455
Scale 1:5000

Produced using ESRI (UK)'s MapExplorer 2.0 - http://www.esriuk.com



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 82



APPEND I X B

Wayside
Chittoe Heath
Bromham

Wiltshire
SN15 2EH
Tel: 01380 850695

Fax: 01380 850696
E-mail: mail@jandiseed.co.uk

Sally Madgwick
Rights of Way Officer
Wiltshire Council
County Hall
Trowbridge

Wiltshire BA14 8IN

%&& \R, \F@s‘ \

Statement of Objection to the Application for an Order to add public footpaths to the Definitive
Map and Statement at Chittoe Plantation, Chittoe Heath, Bromham

\N February 2010

Thank you for your letter of 2 December and also for the visit of 16 November 2009.

On 11 December 2008 we registered our title to the 999 year leasehold for the land in question (granted in
1954) of which the freehold is owned by the Blue Haze Corporation. We strongly object to the
application and we contest the witness statements that are in support of this application. In summary our
objections are:

* That the public have entered the land concerned without permission knowing that the land is
private, that there are and were no Rights of Way accrued or otherwise and most of the witnesses
are unable to claim to have done so over a period of twenty years or more.

e That there is clear and explicit evidence that a sign reading “PRIVATE WOODLAND - KEEP
OUT” was put up in approximately September 2002. That sign was followed by about three
others which were put up early the following year. Signs advertising the sale of the private
woodland were also periodically erected.

e That even where access has been effected there is no definitive path or paths. The Application
makes clear that it is an application for a single footpath and it makes no mention of multiple or
alternate paths.

o Between 1954 and 1992 the leasehold of the land was owned by the Ministry of Agriculture
Fisheries and Food and the witnesses cannot show any provision for public access over the land
during this period and thus a Right of Way could not be claimed against the Crown for that period.
This means that none of the witnesses can claim any rights prior to 1992 and thus cannot show
any accrued rights for a 20 year period or more.

o That some of the witnesses have since written to us and accepted that there is no Right of Way and
thus we suggest that their original witness statement is negated (copies of letters attached).

The public entered the land without permission by force and in secret knowing the land to be
private.

The land concerned has been properly fenced for many years and photographs of the demonstrably
old but effective fencing are attached. The fencing and perimeter plan attached show where the
private entrances may have been and these do not match any of the witness statements for the
application. In December 2008 we erected a wooden gate and some PRIVATE LAND KEEP OUT
signs. We did not renew the perimeter fence as it was, gnd is, perfectly serviceable for delineating
land ownership. In February 2009 we placed @m@&@ @N%m over the existing fence at two points.




We also enclose witness statements signed by locals who support our contention that the land was
properly fenced and it is of note that many of the witnesses for the application acknowledge the
existence of a fence around the property. These are also supported by a proforma letter signed by
others. Letters of objection to the Right of Way are enclosed.

The locals also recall a black and white sign stating that the woods were private and the location of
this sign is shown on the attached plan. The woodland has also been sold twice since 1992 and on
each occasion was advertised by John Clegg and Sons with signs at the woods as PRIVATE
WOODLAND FOR SALE. We also understand that some of the witnesses (including and in
particular John Benham) asked for sales particulars at the time and thus knew perfectly well that the
woodland was private property and had no Rights of Way across them. Sales particulars from these
sales and a photograph of the signs erected are enclosed as supporting evidence.

It is of note that all those objecting to the Right of Way and supplying supportive evidence are local
(including residents of Chittoe Heath, the Parish Council, the Wiltshire Council and the local
Ramblers Group) whereas none of the witnesses for the application live within walking distance of the
woods and thus are clearly not local. The only local resident of Chittoe who claims a Right of Way
{Sarah Collins) states in her statement that she first accessed the woods by seeking permission of the
Spicer Family of Spye Park (the owners of the land until 2005) and thus her access was permissive
and thus she cannot claim a Right of Way until after the Spicer family sold their ownership of the land
in 2005.

The erection of notices

BCH (UK) Limited bought the long lease of the Plantation in August 2002 and retained it until it was
sold to me in December 2008. I understand that Philip Kerry, the Managing Director of that
company, Peter Yates, an architect who worked for the company, and Roger Townend who worked
for Mr Kerry have all written to you. I enclose copies of their letters for ease of reference. Mr Kerry
and Mr Yates both say quite clearly that they put up signs reading “PRIVATE WOODLAND — KEEP
OUT” in about September 2002 — and Mr Yates returned to put up more signs early the following
year. Mr Townend confirms that the signs were still there when he started working for Mr Kerry in
January 2005 although they disappeared some time after that. There is also evidence from a number
of others (including Edward Heard and Patricia Bryant) of the existence of signs in the Plantation.

I would just add that according to page 55 of the Blue Book on Rights of Way (the Fourth Edition by
John Riddall and John Trevelyan) the law does not require that only the landlord is capable of
rebutting the presumption of dedication. “Action by the tenant sufficient to show an intention not to
dedicate is capable of resulting in the presumption being rebutted”.

Lack of definitive paths

It is clear from the witness statements that most of those who claim a Right of Way have accessed the
land and taken their dogs for a walk. We suggest that all have done so with their dogs off the lead and
have simply wandered anywhere in the woods following their dogs. There is no definitive path as
attached photographs and the visit by Sally Madgwick on 16 November confirmed. Even the witness
statements in support of the application confirm that there is such a significant variation in the routes
claimed that the application must fail because of the lack of consistency in alleged routes claimed.
Some admit in their statements that they walked different routes.

Page 84



Forestry Commission Tenure up to 1992

Between 1954 and 1992 the leasehold of the land was owned by the Ministry of Agriculture Fisheries
and Food and the witnesses cannot show any provision for public access over the land during this
period and thus a Right of Way could not be claimed against the Crown for that period. The
application was made in March 2009 and all refer to our clearly defining the woods again as private in
December 2008.  The Forestry Commission tenure means that none of the witnesses can claim any
rights prior to 1992 and thus cannot show any accrued rights for a 20 year period or more.

Witness Statements

A summary of the witness statements, together with our comments is attached at Annex A. From this
summary it is clear that there are 9 extant statements from witnesses claiming access for over twenty
years.

We suggest that most of the Statements from those claiming the Right of Way and who claim over 20
years access in their statements contain both such inconsistencies with the routes claimed and the law
that they are inadmissible or cannot support the application properly.
These include:
e people who state that they walked the woods by permission granted by the owners(Collins)
o people who walked with permission gained by employment or tenure from the owners
(Thompson x3)
e people who have since recorded in writing their acceptance that a Right of Way does not exist
(Stainer, Wiggins,x2, Beater) — statements attached.
e and one who accepts the existence of the old sign (which said PRIVATE WOODS) (Holt)
e Several who could not possibly have logically walked the route which they claim on a daily
basis (Imrie, Wade, Kirk Duncan,du Boulay, Thompsen, Hodsoll, Parkinson)

e Several admit not using the same route (Thomas, Micciche, Benham)

e Most witness statements contain maps with routes that vary from the application for the
modification oreder.

Although not strictly relevant to this application we wish to emphasise that we have no objections to
people walking our land with permissive access and have granted such a permission to 22 dog walkers to
date.

Together with the locals of Chittoe Heath, the Parish Council, the Wiltshire Councillor and even the local
rambling group we wish to object to this application for the reasons stated and request that you as the
Rights of Way Officer refuse to issue the Order applied for.

N =

Page 85



8jes G00¢ 3yl
0} dn uojssiuiad 119y} Ylm 0S pIp SNy} pue
Allwey 1921dg sy3 o jeyaq uo ease 3O0YM
ayy pauue; Ajwey uosdwoyl a8yl usym
SpoOM 81} 8Sn 0] Panuijuod pue paue}s ay
leyy syiwpe Apuepodun Ai1ap  uopesijdde
Y} Wolj IJIN0L JUIBYIP Ppue  32Ud}
Jajpwiiad ayy jJo ddudsixa ayj sydesoy

Bunjiem uaipjiyo/Boq
-Z861/sieak /g

piars

SLNS ‘@IUSIM\ ‘Weywolg ‘sueT pIeA v

uosdwoy| sswer e

'syjedioo} Jnoyim
pue ajeAnd se way} uiejal 0} SBM SISUMO
8y} Jo uonusiul ayj ey pue Aem jo spybu
Oou 3iam ajal] mauwy 3y snyj pue SpPoom
ay} Anq o3 pajuem 3y se adIM] SPOOM al] Jo
sie[noiued sajes ay} 10} Juas ay Jey3 sjuwpe
os|e a4 -uoissiuiad e jdaase pjnom ay jeyy
pue Aem jo Jybls ou sem aiayj} Jey) perdadoe
SHUIEY]) dieme sem 3y Jeyl 6002 994 g

u@buneaw e je papiwpe a4 -uonedidde
je  jaubas pessaidxa pue saw
jelaaas awl ylim jaw osje aH ‘uoniesijdde

] woJl} anos juseylp e Bulepdop

Bunyjem uaipiya/Boqg

"'SHZ SLNS "24ysiim

SE ||9M SB S2)N0J JUdI3YIP pSsSh pue aduay 6002-1L861/s1eaf gz | ‘weyuaddiypy ‘weywolg ‘pyybiH Lo weyuag uyor asunep
allM paqieq ay) jo asualsixa sy} sydasoy

‘payosene aag "pajebau s1 asuapine : (s|ie}ap swes
J19y3 asojasayy Aepp jo by ou si aiay) Jeyy Bunjiem Bog ‘dv6 LLNS | Ulim suuoj aouspins sjeledes)

ydaosoe Aay} jey; Aes 03 UM MOU BABH

6002-0861/s4e9A 62

‘ailys)iM ‘suleD ‘peoy asojp suekig 0g

suIBBIAA [SlNiA pue |2eUDIN

.uonounl peol
8y} Aq 9ijs 19uiod ayj je ubis e s|eday,
ay snjd uoneojdde ayj wouy 8)N0J JusIBYIP puE

2oug) Jsjawlad sy} Jo aoudlsixe ay) sydsooy sieaf zg SHIM ‘weywolg ‘playybiH 8 HoH 181ed
‘uoljesidde ay} woly 91N0J JUaIayip
B Sale[osp pue sajnol jualayip pasn sjdesoy sieak go¢ SIIAM ‘WBYSHIBIN "BNUBAY |Iy2InyD /b uole|ddy yuay
isjuny

s
sy 0} suononlisqo aJem aisyl SlWpe pue
uoljeoljdde ayj woiy a3nos JuasByIp e salepaq

B6a .ejses/soluoid/Bunjem Bog

600Z-2961/s1e3h Ly

£l

CINS 'aJysiip ‘weysyisy ‘eso|) uesd 6

peaj\ aoelic) epal

jusiiuio g

9SM/POLIa4/asN JO SIBa A

ssalppy

(s)owen

y Ao

S19sN Jo a|npayssg

sinds’ - yjedjoo] uonejueld YieaH a0RIYD — 8IS 'S8T



) ‘uonesldde sy} wolj 8ynol
jualaylp pue (dew Jay uo AjusJsayip umoys
JNg) SpEOJ SSOIO By} wWol) $S320%e 3y} pue
sajl}s 1ejewad syl Jo 82uUSSIX8 By} S}deddy

Buyem Boq
6002-£661/5/e9f 9

Z3L TINS 'weysyjepy ‘900 uesq g |

"G00z |hUn S19UMO 8y}
jo uoissiwied Ag sssooe alojaley) (sieoidg)
yed 8Adg jo sisumo syl Ag uoissiwiad
UsalD) ‘uonedldde ay} Wwol s8N0l Jusisyip pue
aous) Jewuad ay) jo aoussixa ay} sidsosoy

Buem bog

132 SIENS

800z-6861L/s1eaf gl | ‘weyuaddiyd ‘eolIYD 'yaunyd PIO LYl

apepA uuy

suljjed yeleg

‘uoneaidde ayy Lo} 9)N0J JusIayIp pue
2ou9) Jojewad ayl Jo 9ouBsIXe By} s}deddy

SIIAA ‘Weywolg ‘suaples) ayj §

lanieD uyor usgoy

‘uonesijdde sy} woJj ajnol Jusiayip e salesqg |

é
Bunjiem Bog

800Z-6861/sie2A 6 | 400087

'ddZ GINS
4 uepmog gGg 'sbpoT Jomo

Aiwey
pue Aejnog nQ SN PUe I

3SN SHVIA ALNIML

MOHS LONNVO ONIMOT104 3HL

‘uoljeoldde 8y} WoJ) aInol Jusisylp pue
90UgY Jojewiad 8y} Jo 20udlsIXs ay) Sydedoy

Bunyem Bog

Are

-600Z 200Z-9861/S1e9A LZ | GLNS ‘aJiysiipy ‘weywolg ‘sauoishein) /g

uosupiied [I9N UILe

Q S002
mufP sjybu ponioose ou aiojeieyy eje)s3
ak a8y} jo sjueusa} uaym uoissiuuiad
UaAl Ajjeuibuo os|e ‘uonesijdde
3y} wol} 9NO01  JUBIBYIP pue  3OUI}
Jajowsad 8y} jo oouljsixa 3y) sjdaddy

Bunijem Bop/Buiiepn

1ace

8002-9861/51€2K 22 | GLNS ‘alIYSHip\ ‘weywolg ‘suem plep v

(uosdwoyy Ae
JO alipA) uosdwoy | uesy (0Jed

‘60 34 9} uo Hupaaw je Aem
Jo b ou sem a3yl jeyl pue spoom ayj
asn 0} uoissiwiad [eqsaA pajydadoe pue 1o}
payse ‘uonedijdde ayj) wolj anod Juaiayiq

Bujiem Bog

'Zdz GLNS ‘weyuaddiyp

6002-9861/s/eak ¢z | ‘eue] Apueg ‘asnoy adljod PIO Byl

[[oSpoH UAjLen

‘ales G002 W
03 dn uoissiwiad J13y} Yjm os pip sny}l pue
Alwey Jaoidg ay) jo jjeyaq uo esie ajoym
ay} pauuey Apwey uosdwoy] ayj uaym
Spoom 8y} asn 0} panujjuod pue paue}s ay
jey} sywpe Apuepodun Asap  -uonesydde
8y} WwWoJ4} 2JN0J JUIBYIp pue 8usy
J9)awiiad oY) jo asuslsixa ayl sidedoy

-2861/s1eak 1z

auys)ip ‘sue) ‘peswsbpry 6

uosdwoy | plemoH Awalap

s1asn jo 3jnpayss

ayndsiq yjedjood uonejue|d YjeaH a0y — paag L/S6v8Z



‘uones|dde ay} wody a1no. Jualayip pue
2oty Jejewuad ay) jo 9oudsIXe 8y} s1dedoy

Buissiw wioy
aouspiae woly sabed-s|elsp ON

'SAZ OLNS

‘sozIne(]  ‘peOM UOpuoT ‘asnoy uapul

HOIMPEd [ 1 W SIN PUE I

O uoneoidde ay) woly a1n0l JuBIBLIP pUE
adFp) Jorewuad syl Jo souslsixe ay) sidedoy

uolealoal/Bunyiem Bog
6002-200z/sieah /

‘Weysiew ‘eso|n uesq ¢

JauIelg r sIp

‘uonjeoljdde sy} WOl 2JN0J JuBiayp pue
2009} Jojawiad ayy Jo souasixe ay) sidaooy

uojeaiosalbupjepn Bog
-8661/s4834 ||

‘uoneoldde ay} Woiy 81N0J JUBIBYUIP pUE
aous} Jojowiiad ay) Jo 9oudsIxe ay) sjdeddy

TACZ SINS
‘weywolg ‘ysiey syupd 1 'asnoH uojysy

auW| [ezeH

Buisjiem Bog
-866/s1e34 ||

'gHZ GLNS ‘weywoug ‘doj sAuiy vE

2UOI0OIN
piAB(] ouejaes) (padial) Jofepy

600¢ €08l pajep sewioy |
|9BIN -JepJo uonesypow
104 Uoijeaiiddy o So1ON "GN

‘asn s1eak oz Bunjiem/Bursiem Boq ‘dHZ SINS ‘weyuaddiyp
uey} aiow ajeljsuowap jouued esldde ay| -/66L/s1e2A | | ‘weywoig ‘joodasioy GG ‘9SNOH 831] M3A Ajlwie) pue sewoy | esino
uonsanb asusj
ayj] Jamsue 0] Sjieq ° pasn Sa)NoJ Juat3UIp pue Bunyiem Boq ‘MSS 0LNS 'sozinag

2oUs) Islpwad syl Jo soud)sIXs ay) sidaooy

8002-966L/siesh Z|

‘uoislepy ‘usaln) syl ¢ ‘sbenon mopespy

ueosung Yy yisgezi3g

-pajebau
S| @Juapind Jay aiojalay} Aepp jo ybiy ou
s1 a1ay3 1ey] 3daaoe Aay) ey} Aes 0] uajim
Mou aAeH uonesidde ayy woly 8IN0J JUBIBHIP
E Salgpop pue aous) Jojewuad s)ydeddy

2002
asn Jse7 (weyolg sauojshalc) je

Buinll usym) 900zZ-L661/sIedh G|

1IN0 LINS 'auje) ‘eso|p Alewasoy ¢

ia)eagq jaiebiepy

s1asn Jo a|npaydss

sndsi” 'jedjood uonejue|d ylesy aopyo — pass

76¥8¢C



1 1 he Planning AP PEND X 3
= Inspectorate . =

Appeal Decision

by Martin Elliott BSc FIPROW
an Inspector on direction of the Secretary of State for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs

Decision date: 21 February 2011

Appeal Ref: NATROW/Y3940/529A/10/20

o This Appeal is made under Section 53(5) and Paragraph 4(1) of Schedule 14 of the
wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (the 1981 Act) against the decision of Wiltshire
County Council not to make an Order under section 53(2) of that Act.

e The Application dated 18 March 2009 was refused by Wiltshire County Council on 15
March 2010

o The Applicant claims that the appeal route at Chittoe Heath in the Parish of Bromham,
Wiltshire, leading from the western and north western edge of Chittoe Plantation
through and around the plantation, should be added to the definitive map and
statement for the area as a footpath.

Summary of Decision: The appeal is allowed

Preliminary Matters

1. 1 have been directed by the Secretary of State for Environment, Food and Rural
Affairs to determine an appeal under Section 53(5) and Paragraph 4(1) of
Schedule 14 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.

2. In addition to the representations made by the applicant and the Council a
third party, Mr and Mrs Seed, leaseholders of part of Chittoe Plantation through
which the claimed route passes, have also made representations. I have taken
into account all the representations in reaching my decision.

3. The evidence in this case is user. I have not visited the site but I am satisfied I
can make my decision without the need to do so.

4. The application is for the addition of a footpath; this is further described in the
application as a footpath through and around Chittoe Plantation as marked red
on the application plan. Whilst the application does make reference to a
footpath, when taken with the application plan it is clear that the application
relates to a number of paths. My determination relates to the footpaths shown
on the map. There is nothing before me to suggest that anyone will have
misunderstood the intentions of the application or that anyone will have been
prejudiced.

5. In my decision I shali refer to the route around the plantation including the
spur paths leading to the edge of the plantation as the perimeter paths. Other
routes through the plantation shall be referred to as the cross paths.

Main issues

6. Section 53(3)(c)(i) provides that an order should be made if the Authority
discovers evidence which, when considered with all other relevant evidence
available to them, shows that a right of way subsists or is reasonably alleged to

B laYaY
http://www.planning-inspectorate.gov.uk raye oJ



Appeal Decision NATROW/Y3940/529A/10/20

subsist over land in the area to which the map relates. In considering the
evidence under this section there are two tests which need to be applied, as set
out in the case of R v Secretary of State ex parte Mrs J Norton and Mr R
Bagshaw (1994) 68P & CR 402 (Bagshaw):

Test A: Does a right of way subsist on the balance of probabilities? This
requires me to be satisfied that there is clear evidence in favour of public rights
and no credible evidence to the contrary.

Test B: Is it reasonable to allege that on the balance of probabilities a right of
way subsists? If the evidence in support of the claimed paths is finely balanced
but there is no incontrovertible evidence that a right of way cannot be
reasonably alleged to subsist, then I should find that a public right of way has
been reasonably alleged.

Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980 Act provides that where a way over any
land, other than a way of such a character that use of it by the public could not
give rise at common law to any presumption of dedication, has been actually
enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of 20
years, the way is deemed to have been dedicated as a highway unless there is
sufficient evidence that there was no intention during that period to dedicate it.
The period of 20 years is to be calculated retrospectively from the date when
the right of the public to use the way was brought into question.

Reasons

When the right to use the ways was brought into question

8.

9.

There appears to be no dispute as to the fact that the right to use the ways
was brought into question in December 2008/lanuary 2009 when a ‘no public
right of way’ notice was erected at the entry point into the wood at its south
western corner. At this time challenges were also said to have been made by
Mr Seed. The erection of the notice and the challenges by Mr Seed are
recognised in @ number of evidence of use forms.

The notice and the challenges would have brought the right to use the ways
into question and sets a relevant twenty year period of 1988 to 2008.

Evidence of use 1988 to 2008

10.

3.

The Council has concluded that there is sufficient evidence of use to support
the application. However, Mr and Mrs Seed assert that there are very few
applicants who still claim twenty year use and that their evidence is
inconsistent.

From my examination of the evidence of use forms ten individuals have used
the perimeter path for the full twenty year period. A number of other
individuals have used the ways for part of the twenty year period with four
individuals using the ways for a substantial part of the period. My analysis
indicates that fewer individuals used the cross paths. Use was generally on a
weekly or daily basis and many recall seeing others in the plantation although
it is not clear if this was along the claimed routes. There is nothing before me
to suggest that the evidence is inconsistent such that it should not be
accepted. However, I consider the accuracy of the accompanying maps and
the details of the exact route used at paragraph 23 below.

http://www.planning-inspectorate.gov.uk

2
Page 90



Appeal Decision NATROW/Y3940/529A/10/20

12.

In my view the evidence is sufficient to demonstrate use of the perimeter route
by the public for the full twenty years. As regards use of the cross paths whilst
it is less than the perimeter path I also consider that, whilst the evidence is
very finely balanced, it is sufficient to demonstrate use by the public for the full
twenty year period.

Use as of right

1,

14.

15

16

17.

Use as of right is defined as use without force, stealth or permission. The
Council have concluded that use is as of right.

Mr and Mrs Seed disagree with the Council’s views on the fencing of the wood
and say they have provided evidence to support their position. They do not
elaborate on why they disagree with the view of the Council or the relevant
context. Nevertheless I consider it appropriate to consider the fencing of the
wood in relation to use by force.

No direct evidence has been provided to me in relation to the fencing of the
land but the Council deals with this issue in its decision report. In my view, the
evidence suggests that the wood was fenced around its boundary and that
fences were broken down or became out of repair. However, the evidence of
use forms do not indicate the existence of any fencing which prevented use of
the ways. Reference is made to broken down or dilapidated fences around the
perimeter of the wood but there is no indication that access was prevented
until 2008/2009. A number refer to the existence of stiles in the boundary
fence. There is nothing before me to suggest that those using the ways used
force to access the wood and on balance I conclude that use was without force.

In relation to use with permission the statement from Mr and Mrs Seed states
that they have granted permission, for anyone who has applied, to walk the
woods. The statement does not provide any indication as to the dates when
permission was granted. However, it is noted that Mr and Mrs Seed did not
take on the lease for the wood until 11 December 2008. There is no indication
that, prior to Mr and Mrs Seed taking the lease, any previous lessee or
landowner granted permission to use the ways. I note the observation in
relation to Mrs Collins but, whilst she says that the previous lessee allowed
reasonable and responsible access, her form makes it clear that she did not
have permission to use the wood. I do not think it can be inferred from her
evidence that the previous lessee granted permission to use the wood. In any
event the granting of permission to some does not mean that use by others is
not without permission. I conclude that use of the ways was without
permission.

Mr and Mrs Seed indicate that several of the witnesses have signed written
submissions confirming their belief that no right of way exists. Those that have
made written submission are not identified by Mr and Mrs Seed but I note that
correspondence attached to the Council’s Decision Report identifies these as
‘(Stainer, Wiggins x2, Beater)’; no statements are attached to the report. In
the absence of copies of any statements I am unable to attach any significant
weight to the assertions made by Mr and Mrs Seed. In any event I do not
accept that the evidence of those who have subsequently made written
submissions should be discounted. These individuals claim use of the various
ways and there is nothing to indicate that their use was not as of right. There
is no requirement for use to be as of right for it to be in the belief that the way

http://www.planning-inspectorate.gov.uk _UNUQO @ ._



Appeal Decision NATROW/Y3940/529A/10/20

18.

is public’. Even if these individuals are excluded from my assessment of the
evidence of use, which I do not consider necessary, there remains sufficient
evidence, albeit diminished, to support use by the public such as to raise a
reasonable allegation that public rights subsist.

There is no suggestion that use was in secrecy and bearing in mind the above I
conclude overall that use was as of right.

Use without interruption

19.

None of the evidence of use forms indicate any challenge or effective
interruption to the use of the ways until December 2008/January 2009. Mr and
Mrs Seed suggest that most of the twenty two individuals who have completed
an evidence of use form are dog walkers who have been challenged by them
for letting their dogs loose and wandering freely through the woods. Whilst no
dates are given the statement of Mr and Mrs Seed is consistent with the
evidence of use forms which suggest that any challenges were those which
brought the right to use the ways into question. It should be noted that for an
interruption to be effective there must be some interference in the right of
passage along any way and it must be with the intent to prevent public use.
The challenges identified by Mr and Mrs Seed appear to relate to a more
general use of the wood notwithstanding the fact that challenges in respect of
the use of the ways appear to have been effective from December 2008. On
balance I conclude that use during the twenty year period was without
interruption.

Whether there is a way

20,

21

2Z.

23,

The Council finds that the evidence supports the use of Chittoe Plantation as
being as of right and without interruption for a full twenty year period.
Further, that there is insufficient evidence of a lack of intention to dedicate.
However, the Council says that the claimed paths were not sufficiently defined
to be identifiable either to record on the definitive map or on the ground. The
Council concludes that the application does not advance sufficient evidence to
identify that the same route has been used by the witnesses or to identify the
location of the way. The uncertainty over the actual route walked fails to
satisfy the definition of ‘a way’ as used in section 31(1) of the 1980 Act.

The appeal is on the basis that the Council has failed to give sufficient weight
to the evidence of use forms, that there has been a failure to investigate the
evidence and that the decision of the Council is inconsistent. The Council has
applied the incorrect test to the evidence of use in accordance with Bagshaw
and that the claimed routes have been shown to satisfy the test that they are
reasonably alleged to subsist. It is contended that the Council is in error in
concluding that the only basis upon which it can be decided as to whether a
right of way is reasonably alleged to subsist is if the route can be seen.

Mr and Mrs Seed contend that the user evidence is inconsistent and that there
is a wide variety of routes claimed. The evidence is disingenuous and users
have never stuck to a path or paths; there is no path because walkers have
walked in the open woodland as they please. There had been no failure to
reconcile the witness statements with the user evidence.

In my view there are twenty two evidence of use forms which indicate the use
of various ways in Chittoe Plantation for a number of years. A number of the

! R'v Oxfordshire County Council ex parte Sunningwell PC {1999] 3 All ER 385

http://www.planning-inspectorate.gov.uk

4
Page 92



Appeal Decision NATROW/Y3940/529A/10/20

forms indicate that the routes were well trodden. I accept that thereis a
degree of variance in the routes marked on the plans which were said to have
been walked. However, given that there no clear landmarks, or features on the
map to follow, it is not unexpected that users will mark different alignments.
Given this I consider that the routes marked on the various maps are within a
reasonable degree of tolerance. On balance, the evidence of use forms
demonstrate the use of a route around the perimeter of the wood and a
number of cross paths as identified on the application map. Other routes
appear to have been used but these do not form part of the application and it
may be the case that some use of the woods has not been along the paths
identified in the application. There is nothing before me to support the
contention that the user evidence is disingenuous and some weight should be
given to signed evidence of use forms which identify the use of defined routes.

24. The point is raised by the appellant that the claimed route runs through a
heavily wooded plantation and that the path is obscured by fallen leaves during
the autumn and winter. This is accepted by the Council but they make the
point that the leaseholder has granted a number of licences to use the woods
and that some walking continues. The Council accepts that more of a path is
visible outside the months of December to March but say that it is not possible
to follow a defined route around the whole perimeter. Officers visited the site
during the months of December 2009 and February 2010 and found that parts
of the perimeter route were clear and unequivocal. However, they do not
acknowledge the existence of any cross paths. I note the issue raised by Mr
and Mrs Seed in respect of the density of the woodland but this issue was
raised by the applicant in the context of the leaf fall and not in relation to the
density of vegetation and the differing routes.

25

Having regard to the above there appears to be a conflict of credible evidence
in relation to the evidence of use forms, which indicate use of the appeal
routes, and the absence of continuous clearly defined routes on the ground.
The test to be applied is that identified in Bagshaw. The evidence of use raises
a reasonable allegation that the ways have been used and whilst the routes, or
parts of the routes, are not apparent on the ground this does not provide
incontrovertible evidence that the ways were not used and could not be
reasonably alleged to subsist. The absence of any discernible track does not
necessarily mean that any way was not used. The appropriate course of action
where there is a conflict of evidence is for an order to be made so that if
objections are made then the evidence can be tested.

26. The Council provides an excerpt from Pratt and Mackenzie’s Law of Highways
(21* Edition). Whilst I concur with the view expressed, in respect of Chittoe
Plantation there is evidence of an enduring trackway and whilst this is said to
be discontinuous, as I have outlined above, the absence of any route does not
provide incontrovertible evidence that the ways were not used. The Council
identifies @ number of items of case law referred to in the publication® but does
not give any indication as to any argument that they wish to advance, if any,
from the cases nor does it provide any relevant extracts. In view of this I am
unable to make any observations in respect of these cases.

27. In relation to Highway Law (4™ Edition) by Stephen Sauvain QC the extract

indicates the uncertainty as to what constitutes a way which could not give rise

5

© Eyre v New Forest Highway Board (1892) 56 1.P. 517, Chapman v n:._.cum (1862) 2 F.& F. 864 and Schinge v
Dowell (1862) 2F. & F. 849

http://www.planning-inspectorate.gov.uk _UN,Q e @W



Appeal Decision NATROW/Y3940/529A/10/20

28.

29,

30,

to dedication at common law (section 31 of the 1980 Act) but refers to the case
of the Attorney-General ex rel. Yorkshire Derwent Trust Limited v Brotherton
[1991] 1 AC 425. The Council refer to the statement that ‘you do not dedicate
a right or direction of travel. You create a right by dedicating the land for use
as a public passage.’ 1 accept this statement but it does not assist in defining
the physical characteristics of a way and it does not suggest that it is a
prerequisite of the existence of a right of way that a route should be
discernible.

As regards Oxfordshire County Council v Oxfordshire City Council [2004] EWHC
12 (Ch) 1 again concur with the view expressed. However, in respect of the
claim subject to the appeal, evidence has been given to the effect that certain
routes were used. Whilst in parts there may be no clearly identifiable route I
have already concluded that the absence of any route does not provide
incontrovertible evidence that a right of way along the routes claimed cannot
be reasonably alleged to subsist.

The decision report refers to an order made by the Council which was not
confirmed because the right of passage had not been established over a more
or less defined route. I note the point but in the absence of any details of that
particular case no comparisons can be drawn. In respect of the appeal there is
a conflict in the evidence in relation to the use of the ways and the lack, in
parts, of a defined route. As outlined previously, where there is a conflict of
evidence, an order should be made on the basis that a right is reasonably
alleged to subsist. Confirmation of an order requires that, on the balance of
probabilities, a right of way subsists; this is a higher test than a reasonable
allegation.

Having regard to the above, whilst the evidence of use forms identify the use of
the various ways there is a conflict of evidence as to the existence of any
defined way.

Evidence of a lack of intention to dedicate by the landowner

4

32,

The Council contend that there is insufficient evidence to demonstrate a lack of
intention to dedicate. For there to be sufficient evidence that there is no
intention to dedicate the ways there must be evidence of some overt acts on
the part of the landowner, during the relevant period, such as to show the
public at large, the public who used the way, that they had no intention to
dedicate. The test is whether a reasonable user would have understood that
the owner was intending to disabuse the user of the notion that the way was a
public footpath. It is not necessary to demonstrate a lack of intention
throughout the relevant period but where that evidence is for a short period of
time then questions of whether this is sufficient will arise.

Chittoe Plantation forms part of the Spye Park Estate and between 1864 and
2005 was owned by Spicer and from 2005 to date by Blue Haze Corporation.

In 1954 the woods were |leased to the Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and
Food on a 999 vear lease. The lease was sold in 1992 to Bratton Ltd and in
2002 to BCH (UK) Ltd. On 11 December 2008 the land was divided and the
lease for the majority of the land was taken by Mr and Mrs Seed. Given the
length of the lease, and in the absence of any evidence to the contrary, there is
no automatic distinction between any actions of a tenant and that of the
landowner.

http://www .planning-inspectorate.gov.uk

6
Page 94



Appeal Decision NATROW/Y3940/529A/10/20

33

34.

35.

36,

Mr and Mrs Seed do not accept views of the Council in respect of signage of the
woods. The context of this representation is not clarified but the original report
by the Council considers notices in the context of section 31(3) of the 1981
Act. In my view it is therefore appropriate to consider the representation in
relation to any lack of intention to dedicate.

The evidence of Mr Kerry, said to be the owner of BCH (UK) Ltd and
leaseholder since 2002, is that he recalls putting up a sign close to the access
point into the wood near to the cross roads on Chittoe Heath. The notices said
‘Private Woodland Keep Out’. Mr Kerry recalls that the erection of the notice
was when visiting the wood with an employee Mr Yates in August 2002; Mr
Yates also recalls putting up the notice. He refers to returning to the wood
several months later to erect three similarly worded signs. A Mr Townend,
employee of BCH (UK) Ltd, and a Mr Heard, the stepson of the previous owner
and estate manager recalled a sign at this location which said ‘private’. In
contrast none of those who have completed evidence of use forms recall seeing
any notices in the wood prior to those erected by Mr and Mrs Seed which
brought the right to use the way into question. There is no indication that the
erection of any notices in 2002 brought it home to those using the way that
there was no intention to dedicate and use continued. It should be noted that
for any notice to be effective it must clearly indicate that there is no public
right of way. Statements to the effect that the woodland is private are not
sufficient to demonstrate a lack of intention to dedicate a way since the
statement is not inconsistent with the existence of public rights which, by their
nature, exist over private land. I also consider the addition of the words ‘keep
out’ to such a notice as being ambiguous. In the absence of any reference to a
right of way the notice may be construed as requiring people to keep to the
path.

Mr and Mrs Seed also refer to the erection of signs advertising the sale of
private woodland. In my view such notices would not have disabused those
using the ways of the notion that the paths were public. As noted above the
existence of public rights is not precluded by the fact the land is private.

On balance I do not consider that any notices erected were sufficient to
demonstrate a lack of intention to dedicate. There is no evidence of any other
actions sufficient to demonstrate a lack of intention to dedicate.

Conclusions on the evidence

= 8

Having regard to all of the above, on the balance of probabilities, the evidence
demonstrates use of the ways by the public as of right and without interruption
for a twenty year period. There is insufficient evidence to demonstrate any
lack of intention to dedicate. There is however a conflict of credible evidence in
relation to the evidence of use and the existence of any defined way but no
incontrovertible evidence to suggest that rights cannot be reasonably alleged to
subsist. As such the evidence indicates that public rights can be reasonably
alleged to subsist and test B, as outlined in paragraph 6, is satisfied. An Order
should be made and if any objections are raised then the evidence may be
more thoroughly tested.

Other Matters

38.

The Council makes representations as to the appropriate scale of any Order
map and the ability to accurately identify any definitive route; this was in
relation to the appellants comments on the variance in the claimed routes. The

http://www.planning-inspectorate.gov.uk _Um.@m @@



Appeal Decision NATROW/Y3940/529A/10/20

39

appeal is on the claimed routes identified in the original application and the
matter as to how this may be depicted on any order plan is not a matter for my
consideration. I note the observation that if the Council had been dealing with
a creation as opposed to a definitive map modification order based on user it
would have been possible to add a route as described in the statement. In my
view there is no distinction and the appeal route is capable of being described
in any statement.

Mr and Mrs Seed say that should the application be granted then they would
wish to fence the path but could not do so with the wide variety of routes
claimed. The applicant disputes the point made by Mr and Mrs Seed that they
have granted permission for anyone who has applied to walk in the woods.
The appeliant also makes representations in relation to the process of
investigations leading up to the decision report of the Council including the
stance taken by the third party. I note all these observations but they are not
matters for my consideration.

Conclusion

40.

Having regard to these and all other matters raised in the written
representations I conclude that the appeal should be allowed.

Formal Decision

41.

In accordance with paragraph 4(2) of Schedule 14 to the 1981 Act Wiltshire
County Council is directed to make an order under section 53(2) and Schedule
15 of the Act to modify the definitive map and statement for Wiltshire County
Council to add a number of public footpaths as proposed in the application
dated 18 March 2009. This decision is made without prejudice to any decisions
that may be given by the Secretary of State in accordance with her powers
under Schedule 15 of the 1981 Act.

Martin Elliott

Inspector

http://www.planning-inspectorate.gov.uk 8

Page 96



	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	6 Wiltshire Council Rights of Way Modification Order no. 9 2011
	RoW Modification Report App1
	RoW Modification Report App2
	RoW Modification Report App2a
	RoW Modification Report App2b
	RoW Modification Report App3


